# STRESS THEORY FOR CLASSICAL FIELDS

## RAZ KUPFERMAN\*, ELIHU OLAMI\* AND REUVEN SEGEV\*\*

ABSTRACT. Classical field theories together with the Lagrangian and Eulerian approaches to continuum mechanics are embraced under a geometric setting of a fiber bundle. The base manifold can be either the body manifold of continuum mechanics, space manifold, or space-time. Differentiable sections of the fiber bundle represent configurations of the system and the configuration space containing them is given the structure of an infinite dimensional manifold. Elements of the cotangent bundle of the configuration space are interpreted as generalized forces and a representation theorem implies that there exist a stress object representing forces, non-uniquely. The properties of stresses are studies as well as the role of constitutive relations in the present general setting.

MSC codes: 74A10, 53Z05, 74A60

## Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Preliminaries and Notation	4
3. Configurations, Velocities and Forces	9
3.1. The manifold of configurations	9
3.2. Generalized velocities	10
3.3. Generalized forces	12
4. Deformation Jets and Velocity Jets	14
4.1. The manifold of deformation jets	14
4.2. The bundle of velocity jets	15
4.3. Compatibility and jet prolongation of velocity fields	17
5. Stresses	18
5.1. Variational stresses	19
5.2. Continuous variational stresses	20
5.3. Traction stresses	20
5.4. The traction stress induced by a variational stress density	23
5.5. The exterior jet of a differentiable traction stress density	24
5.6. The divergence of differentiable variational stress densities and the	
equilibrium field equations	25
6. The Continuum Mechanics Problem	27
6.1. Loadings	27
6.2. Constitutive relations	30

Date: April 23, 2017.

STRESS THEORY FOR CLASSICAL FIELDS	2
6.3. The continuum mechanics equations	31
6.4. The differential form of the continuum mechanics equations	31
6.5. Conservative constitutive relations	32
7. Some Special Cases	34
7.1. Vector bundles	34
7.2. Affine bundles	34
7.3. The bundle of frames	35
7.4. Form-conjugate forces and stresses	35
7.5. Trivial fiber bundles	36
7.6. Continuum mechanics on manifolds	36
7.7. Continua with microstructure	37
7.8. Group action	37
References	38

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Physical theories for which the states are represented by sections of a fiber bundle are predominant in both classical field theories of theoretical physics and studies of the material structure of bodies in continuum mechanics. This paper is concerned with the corresponding stress theory.

For about half a century now, classical fields are modeled mathematically in the theoretical physics literature as sections of fiber bundles over space-time. Since the pioneering works on modern formulations of classical field theories, for example, [Tra67, Kom68, Kom69, Śniatycki70, Her70, Kru71], a generic field is viewed as a section  $\kappa : \mathfrak{B} \to Y$  of a fiber bundle  $\pi : Y \to \mathfrak{B}$  for a *d*-dimensional space-time  $\mathfrak{B}$ . The field equations are obtained by considering stationary values of an action integral

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}} \mathscr{L}(j^r \kappa) \tag{1.1}$$

where the Lagrangian function  $\mathcal{L} : J^r Y \to \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B}$  is a fiber preserving mapping of *r*-jets into the bundle of *d*-alternating multilinear forms over  $\mathfrak{B}$ . (See, for example, [KT79, dR85, BSF88, EEMLRR96, Ram01, GIMM03, GMS09, Fra12].) The variational analysis of the action integral yields terms that may be interpreted as the components of the stress tensor.

Nontrivial fiber bundles appeared in continuum mechanics originally in works considering dislocations, and material uniformity and homogeneity. (See, [BBS55, Kon55, Nol67, Wan67, Blo79, EE07].) The modern formulations of these theories usually consider sections of the principal bundle of frames, or moving frames, over the body manifold as a mathematical model for the distributions of material directions. Since the sections are defined over the body manifold, no reference should be made to the physical space and its conceivable Euclidean structure.

Formulation of continuum mechanics using sections of a general fiber bundle has an additional advantage. While a major portion of studies in continuum mechanics use the Lagrangian approach in which material points serve as fundamental objects, the Eulerian viewpoint may be advantageous for studies of chemically reacting matter and growing bodies. The Lagrangian and Eulerian viewpoints are unified when continuum theories are modeled on fiber bundles. For the Lagrangian formulation, one simply considers the trivial bundle  $\mathfrak{B} \times S \to \mathfrak{B}$  in which S is the manifold representing the ambient physical space. In the Eulerian picture,  $\mathfrak{B}$  is interpreted as the space manifold or a region therein.

Modern studies of the mathematical structure of stress theory in continuum mechanics may be traced back to [Nol59] and subsequently [GW67, GM75, Sil85, Sil91, Sil08], for example. The relevance of the notion of stress to field theories led to contributions from the physics community, for example, [KT79, p. 168], which, in some cases, applied ideas originating in the continuum mechanics research (see [Heh76, KT79, HM86, HN91, HMMN95, GH97, p. 168]).

The stress object emerges in field theories as the vertical derivative of the Lagrangian function. Yet, the studies of the stress object and the field equations it should satisfy are relevant in the more general situation where a Lagrangian mapping is not readily available. In the continuum theory of dislocations, for example, it is hard to expect that the motion of dislocations will be governed by a potential.

Thus, this paper considers the stress object and the equations governing it for fields represented as sections of a general fiber bundle. Extending the terminology in [TT60], and in view of the applications described above, we will use the terminology a *classical field theory* to refer to any such mechanical, or other physical, theory.

In our approach, the analysis of the stress field is put in a broader (global) context. Extending [Seg86], we consider a configuration space of sections which is an infinite dimensional manifold. Generalized forces are viewed as elements of the cotangent bundle of the configuration space and stresses emerge from a representation theorem for the force linear functionals. This "weak" approach allows for generalized, singular, stress fields, with corresponding distributional field equations. We give special attention to the case of smooth stress fields for which we write down the field equation in an explicit differential form. For example, a weak formulation of *p*-form, [HT86, HT88], premetric, [HIO06], electrodynamics was shown in [Seg16] to follow from stress theory for fields represented by *p*-forms in the case where the stress object has a particularly simple form. It should be mentioned that we study here the theory concerning the existence of stresses and the equations it satisfies; we do not study the analytic aspects of the field equations obtained after the constitutive relations are used, in tems of existence and uniqueness of solutions, appropriate function spaces, etc.

Following the introduction in Section 2 of the notation and terminology used pertaining to fiber bundles and their jet bundles, Section 3 is concerned with the infinite dimensional configuration space of sections. Generalized velocities and generalized forces are modeled as elements of the tangent and cotangent bundles of the configuration space, respectively. Particular attention is given to smooth forces, those given in terms of body forces and surface forces. Section 4 considers the analog of "local configurations" as in [TN65, pp. 51–52]. In the present general geometric setting, these are described by sections of the jet bundle. Next, local velocities and their relation to the jets of generalized velocity fields are discussed. Stresses are considered in Section 5. Variational stresses are defined as functionals conjugate to velocity jets. A representation theorem for generalized forces in terms of variational stresses relate the two type of objects through a general version of the principle of virtual power. While, in general, variational stresses are tensor-valued measures, smooth variational stresses, those represented by smooth tensor valued densities induce traction stresses. The traction stress object determines surface forces on oriented (d-1)-submanifolds via a generalization of Cauchy's formula. A differential operator generalizing the traditional divergence of the stress tensor is defined next, enabling one to write a generalized version of differential equations of equilibrium and boundary conditions. It is observed, that while in the classical formulation of stress theory, the stress tensor both acts on the rate of change of the deformation gradient to produce power and determines the traction on hypersurfaces, in the geometry of general manifolds, two objects, the variational stress and the traction stresses, are needed for these two roles. While the variational stress determines a unique traction stress, a traction stress field do not determine a unique variational stress. Next, in Section 6, loadings and constitutive relations are introduced leading to a formulation of the problem of stress analysis. Finally, a number of particular cases are presented in Section 7. In particular, the relation between stress theory and premetric *p*-form electrodynamics is summarized.

#### 2. Preliminaries and Notation

The fundamental geometric object considered in this work is that of a fiber bundle, the sections of which are identified with the configurations of a mechanical system or with classical fields. In this section we introduce the notation and terminology adopted throughout this paper.

A fiber bundle [Sau89] will be denoted by a triple  $(Y, \pi, M)$ , where Y is the total space, M is the base manifold and  $\pi : Y \to M$  is the projection. Let M be a manifold. We denote by

$$(TM, \tau_M, M)$$
 and  $(T^*M, \tau_M^*, M)$ 

its tangent and cotangent bundles. The bundle of *k*-alternating multilinear forms will be denoted by  $(\Lambda^k T^*M, \tau^*_M, M)$ .

Let  $(Y, \pi, M)$  be a fiber bundle. For a section  $s : M \to Y$  and a point  $m \in M$ , we denote by  $s_m$ , rather than s(m), the value of s at m. We also denote the fiber of Y at m by  $Y_m := \pi^{-1}(m)$ .

Consider  $T\pi : TY \to TM$ . The kernel of  $T\pi$  in *TY* is commonly denoted by  $V\pi \subset TY$ , and is referred to as the *vertical sub-bundle* of *TY*. The set  $V\pi$  is the total space of two bundles: the vector bundle

$$(V\pi, \tau_Y|_{V\pi}, Y)$$

and the fiber bundle

$$(V\pi, \pi \circ \tau_Y|_{V\pi}, M)$$



The vertical bundle of Y is often denoted in the literature by VY rather than by  $V\pi$ . The notation VY may be ambiguous in instances where Y is the total space of multiple bundles; the notation  $V\pi$  makes explicit the projection with respect to which verticality is defined. On the other hand, the latter notation is often cumbersome, for example, when the projection is a composition of several projections, some of which restricted to sub-bundles. For improved readability we adopt the following notation scheme: for a fiber bundle  $(Y, \pi_Y, M)$ , we denote its vertical bundle by VY in cases where Y is the total space of a single bundle, or, in the case of repeated projections,  $Y \to Z \to \cdots \to M$ , in which case verticality is implied relative to the projection onto the manifold M.

Consider two fiber bundles  $(Y, \pi_Y, M)$  and  $(Z, \pi_Z, M)$  over the same base manifold M. Let  $\varphi : Y \to Z$  be a fiber bundle morphism, i.e.,  $\pi_Z \circ \varphi = \pi_Y$ . The restriction of the tangent map  $T\varphi : TY \to TZ$  to VY defines a vertical bundle morphism,

$$T\varphi|_{VY}: VY \longrightarrow VZ.$$



Let  $(Y, \pi, N)$  be a fiber bundle and let  $f : M \to N$  be a differentiable mapping. One has the natural pullback bundle,  $(f^*Y, f^*\pi, M)$  with  $(f^*Y)_m$  canonically identified with  $Y_{f(m)}$  via the bundle morphism  $\pi^*f : f^*Y \to Y$  over f, as in the diagram below. A section  $s : N \to Y$  induces the section  $f^*s : M \to f^*Y$  satisfying  $\pi^*f \circ f^*s = s \circ f$ ; in other words,  $(f^*s)_m$  is identified with  $s_{f(m)}$ .



The tangent map of f,  $Tf : TM \to TN$  induces the differential of f,  $df : TM \to f^*TN$  satisfying  $\tau_N^* f \circ df = Tf$ .



In particular, for two fiber bundles  $(Y, \pi, M)$  and  $(Z, \rho, M)$  over the same base manifold M, and a fiber bundle morphism  $\varphi : Y \to Z$ , we use

$$d\varphi|_{VY}: VY \longrightarrow \varphi^* VZ \tag{2.1}$$

to denote the vertical derivative of  $\varphi$ , i.e., the restriction of  $d\varphi$  to *VY*; this vertical derivative is sometimes denoted in the literature by  $\delta\varphi$ .

Let  $(Y, \pi_Y, N)$  and  $(Z, \pi_Z, N)$  be fiber bundles over N. Let  $f : M \to N$  and let  $\varphi : Y \to Z$  be a fiber bundle morphism. Then, f induces a fiber bundle morphism  $f^*\varphi : f^*Y \to f^*Z$ , defined by the equality  $\pi_Z^*f \circ f^*\varphi = \varphi \circ \pi_Y^*f$ .



For a manifold M,  $\mathscr{D}(M)$  denotes the space of smooth real-valued functions on M. For a fiber bundle  $(Y, \pi, M)$ , it is common to denote by  $C^k(\pi)$  the set of  $C^k$ -sections  $M \to Y$ . As in the case of the vertical bundle, we note that the space of  $C^k$ -sections  $M \to Y$  is often denoted in the literature by  $C^k(Y)$ . Here too, we adopt the following notation scheme: for a fiber bundle  $(Y, \pi_Y, M)$ , we denote its  $C^k$ -sections by  $C^k(Y)$  in cases where Y is the total space of a single bundle, or, in the case of repeated projections,  $Y \to Z \to \cdots \to M$ , when the section is with respect to projection onto the manifold M. Consider two fiber bundles  $(Y, \pi_Y, M)$  and  $(Z, \pi_Z, M)$  and let  $\varphi : Y \to Z$  be a fiber bundle morphism. Then  $\varphi$  induces a map between sections,

$$C^k(Y) \ni s \longmapsto \varphi \circ s \in C^k(Z).$$

This mapping is often denoted by  $\varphi_* : C^k(Y) \to C^k(Z)$ , however, we will write explicitly either  $\varphi \circ s$  or just  $\varphi(s)$ .



Let  $(Y, \pi, M)$  be a fiber bundle and let  $m \in M$ . We say that two (local) sections  $s, u \in C^1(Y)$  are 1-equivalent at m if  $(Ts)_m = (Tu)_m$ . Equivalently, s and u are 1-equivalent if and only if they assume at m the same values and the same first derivatives in some (hence, any) coordinate system. The 1-equivalence class at m of a (local) section s is denoted by  $j_m^1 s$ . The *first jet bundle* of  $\pi$  is the set

$$J^1\pi = \{j_m^1 s \mid m \in M, s \text{ is a local } C^1 \text{-section at } m\}.$$

In analogy with vertical bundles and  $C^k$  sections, we adopt the following notation scheme: for a fiber bundle  $(Y, \pi_Y, M)$ , we denote its jet bundle by  $J^1Y$  in cases where Y is the total space of a single bundle, or, in the case of repeated projections,  $Y \to Z \to \cdots \to M$ , when the sections are with respect to projection onto the manifold M.

The first jet bundle of  $(Y, \pi, M)$  is associated with the following projections:



Consider once again two fiber bundles  $(Y, \pi, M)$  and  $(Z, \rho, M)$  over the same base manifold M. Let  $\varphi : Y \to Z$  be a fiber bundle morphism. The first *jet map* of  $\varphi$  is a fiber bundle morphism

$$j^1\varphi: J^1Y \longrightarrow J^1Z,$$

defined by

$$j^1\varphi(j_m^1s)=j_m^1(\varphi\circ s),$$

where for  $m \in M$ , s is a local section of Y at m.



Let Y and Z be vector bundles over a manifold M. We denote by

$$\operatorname{Hom}(Y,Z) \simeq Y^* \otimes Z$$

the vector bundle over M whose elements at  $m \in M$  are linear maps  $Y_m \to Z_m$ . Using L(Y,Z) to designate the set of vector bundle morphisms  $Y \to Z$ , it is observed that a vector bundle morphism  $\xi \in L(Y,Z)$  can be identified with a section of Hom(Y,Z); thus, a vector bundle morphism may be viewed as a tensor field over M. For a section  $\xi$  of Hom(Y,Z) and a section  $\eta : M \to Y$ , we have the section  $\xi \circ \eta : M \to Z$ , defined by  $(\xi \circ \eta)_m = \xi_m(\eta_m)$ .

Let  $s \in \Omega^1(N)$  be a one-form and let  $f : M \to N$  be a mapping. Then,  $f^*s$  is a section of  $(f^*T^*N, f^*\tau_N^*, M)$ ; it is not a differential form. In contrast, we denote by  $f^{\sharp}s$  the one-form over M defined by

$$f^{\sharp}s(v) = f^*s(df(v)), \qquad (2.2)$$

for every  $v \in TM$ .

Throughout this paper we adopt the following terms and notation:

Objects	Elements of	Notation
Points in the field (base manifold)	R	p
Values of a field	Y	е
Configurations	$\mathfrak{Q} \subset C^1(Y)$	κ, κ <sub>1</sub> ,
Virtual velocities	$(T\mathbb{Q}, \tau_{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Q})$	
Velocities at $\kappa$	$T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^1(\kappa^* V Y)$	v, w,
Generalized forces	$(T^*\mathbb{Q}, \tau^*_{\mathbb{Q}}, \mathbb{Q})$	
Forces at $\kappa$	$T^*_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq (C^1(\kappa^* VY))^*$	f
Body force densities	$\mathbb{B} = \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^* \Lambda^d T^* \mathscr{B})$	
Body force density field at $\kappa$	$C^0(\kappa^*\mathbb{B})$	Ь
Surface force densities	$\mathbb{T} = \operatorname{Hom}(VY _{\partial \mathcal{B}}, (\pi _{\partial \mathcal{B}})^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \partial \mathcal{B})$	
Surface force density field at $\kappa$	$C^0(\kappa^*_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}\mathbb{T})$	t
Deformation jets	$\mathscr{C} \subset \widetilde{C}^{0}(J^{1}Y)$	ξ
Velocity jets	$(T\mathscr{C}, \tau_{\mathscr{C}}, \mathscr{C})$	
Velocity jets at $\xi$	$T_{\xi} \mathscr{C} \simeq C^0(\xi^* V J^1 Y)$	η
Variational stresses	$(T^*\mathscr{C}, au_{\mathscr{C}}^*,\mathscr{C})$	
Variational stresses at $\xi$	$T^*_{\mathcal{F}}\mathscr{C} \simeq (C^0(\xi^*VJ^1Y))^*$	$\sigma$
Variational stress densities	$\tilde{\mathfrak{S}} = \operatorname{Hom}(VJ^1Y, (\pi^1)^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B})$	
Variational stress density fields at $\xi$	$C^0(\xi^*\mathfrak{S})$	s
Traction stress densities	$\mathfrak{T} = \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B})$	
Traction stress density fields at $\kappa$	$C^0(\kappa^*\mathfrak{T})$	τ
Loadings	$C^0( au_{\mathfrak{H}}^*)$	F

Body loading densities	$C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^*\Lambda^d T^*\mathfrak{B}))$	В
Surface loading densities	$C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(VY _{\partial \mathfrak{B}},(\pi _{\partial \mathfrak{B}})^{*}\Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\partial \mathfrak{B}))$	Т
Loading potentials	$C^1(\mathbb{Q})$	W
Body loading potential densities	$C^1(\pi^*\Lambda^d T^*\mathfrak{B})$	WB
Boundary loading potential densities	$C^1((\pi _{\partial\mathfrak{B}})^*\Lambda^{d-1}T^*\partial\mathfrak{B})$	$w_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}$
Constitutive relations	$C^0( au_{\mathscr{C}}^*)$	Ψ
Constitutive densities	$C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(VJ^1Y, (\pi^1)^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B}))$	$\psi$
Elastic energy	$C^1(\mathscr{C})$	U
Elastic energy density	$C^2((\pi^1)^*\Lambda^d T^*\mathscr{B})$	${\mathscr L}$

## 3. Configurations, Velocities and Forces

3.1. The manifold of configurations. In the global approach to mechanics, a system is characterized by its configuration space.

The fundamental object in a classical field theory is a fiber bundle, in which the various fields assume their values. The *d*-dimensional base manifold  $\mathfrak{B}$  typically represents space-time in modern physical field theories and a body manifold in continuum mechanics. For  $p \in \mathfrak{B}$ , the *m*-dimensional fiber  $Y_p$  represents the values that the field may assume at *p*. Thus, a field theory is characterized by a particular fiber bundle.

**Definition 1.** Let  $(Y, \pi, \mathcal{B})$  be a fiber bundle, where the base manifold  $\mathcal{B}$  is assumed to be compact, oriented and possibly having a boundary. Consider the Banach manifold [Pal68] of sections  $C^1(Y)$ . The *manifold of configurations*,  $\mathbb{Q}$ , is an open subset of  $C^1(Y)$ .

Since Q is open in  $C^1(Y)$ , it inherits its Banach manifold structure; moreover, for every  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $T_{\kappa}\mathbb{Q} = T_{\kappa}C^1(Y)$ .

**Comment 2.** A basic example of a manifold of configurations is the case where *Y* is a trivial bundle. In the Lagrangian approach to continuum mechanics, a *body* is modeled as a smooth, compact, *d*-dimensional differentiable manifold, **B**. The ambient *space* is modeled as a smooth *m*-dimensional differentiable manifold without boundary, *S*. The space of configurations is the space of  $C^{1}$ -embeddings  $\mathcal{B} \rightarrow S$ , which can be given the structure of a smooth Banach manifold [Pal68, Mic80]. We may also view such maps as sections,  $C^{1}(Y)$ , where

$$Y = \Re \times S$$

is a trivial bundle over *B*.

A construction of the manifold  $C^1(Y)$  consistent with the Whitney  $C^1$ -topology [Mic80] can be found in Palais [Pal68]. The construction may be roughly described as follows. Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$  and let  $C^1(\kappa^*VY)$  be the Banachable space of sections  $\mathfrak{B} \to VY$  along  $\kappa$ . That is,  $w \in C^1(\kappa^*VY)$  satisfies for  $p \in \mathfrak{B}$ 

$$w_p \in (\kappa^* VY)_p = (VY)_{\kappa_p}.$$

A local chart for Q in a neighborhood of  $\kappa$  is a map

$$\chi_{\kappa}: C^1(\kappa^* VY) \to \mathbb{Q},$$

given by

$$(\chi_{\kappa}(w))_p = \exp^Y(w_p),$$

where  $\exp^{Y} : VY \to Y$  is the exponential map on Y induced by some arbitrarily chosen spray, consistent with the fiber structure. Namely, for  $e \in Y$ ,

$$\exp^{Y}: (VY)_{e} \to Y_{\pi(e)}.$$

Strictly speaking,  $\exp^{Y}$  is only defined on a neighborhood of the zero section of *VY*. However, one can always reparametrize  $\exp^{Y}$  to be defined globally on *VY*. The above construction holds only for the case of a compact base manifold  $\mathfrak{B}$ . See Remark 7 below for the case of non-compact bases.

#### \_\_**▼ ▼ ▼**\_\_\_

Throughout this paper, we complement the covariant, coordinate-free formulation with its corresponding local coordinate representation. We will use a typical local coordinate system

 $X = (X^1, \dots, X^d) : p \in \mathfrak{B} \longmapsto X(p) \in \mathbb{R}^d$ 

for the base manifold 38, and a local coordinate system

$$y = (X, x) = (X^1, \dots, X^d, x^1, \dots, x^m) : e \in Y \longmapsto y(e) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^m$$

for the fiber bundle Y. The components of X for a given chart will be denoted with Greek indexes, *e.g.*,  $X^{\alpha}$ ; the components of x will be denoted with Roman indexes, *e.g.*,  $x^{i}$ . Note the abuse of notation where X is both a function on  $\mathfrak{B}$  and a function on Y; this type of abuse will recur in several instances below.

The coordinate system y is assumed to be adapted to the bundle structure: for every  $e \in Y$ , *i.e.*,

$$X(e) = X(\pi(e)).$$

- 🔺 🛦 📥 —

### 3.2. Generalized velocities.

**Definition 3.** The bundle  $(TQ, \tau_Q, Q)$  tangent to the manifold of configurations is termed the *bundle of generalized velocities*, or the *bundle of virtual displace-ments*.

Following Lang [Lan72, p. 26], we define the tangent space of an infinitedimensional manifold in the following way. Let  $\kappa_1$  and  $\kappa_2$  be two configurations, and let

$$\chi_1 : C^1(\kappa_1^*VY) \to \mathbb{Q}$$
 and  $\chi_2 : C^1(\kappa_2^*VY) \to \mathbb{Q}$ 

be coordinate systems at  $\kappa_1$  and  $\kappa_2$ , respectively, whose images overlap. We will keep the simple notation  $\chi_2^{-1}$  for the restriction to the overlap. Let

$$\kappa = \chi_1(w_1) = \chi_2(w_2).$$

The triples

$$(\kappa, \chi_1, v_1)$$
 and  $(\kappa, \chi_2, v_2)$ 

where  $v_1 \in C^1(\kappa_1^*VY)$  and  $v_2 \in C^1(\kappa_2^*VY)$ , are considered equivalent if

$$v_2 = D_{w_1}(\chi_2^{-1} \circ \chi_1)(v_1).$$

The collection of all such equivalence classes for a fixed  $\kappa$  forms the vector space  $T_{\kappa}$ <sup>Q</sup>. Given an exponential map on *Y*, the canonical representative of an element of  $T_{\kappa}$ <sup>Q</sup> is of the form

$$(\kappa, \chi_{\kappa}, \upsilon), \qquad \upsilon \in C^1(\kappa^* VY),$$

that is, the vector space of virtual velocities at  $\kappa$  can be identified with the space of velocity fields at  $\kappa$ ,

$$T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^1(\kappa^* V Y). \tag{3.1}$$

A velocity field at  $\kappa$ ,  $v \in C^1(\kappa^*VY)$  can be identified with a path  $\gamma : I \to \mathbb{Q}$  in a canonical way,

$$\gamma(t) = \chi_{\kappa}(tv),$$

i.e.,

$$(\gamma(t))_p = \exp^{\gamma}(t v_p) \in Y_p.$$

The bundle of velocities TQ is the union of the tangent spaces  $T_{\kappa}Q$  with the standard smooth structure. As a set, TQ consists of sections of VY viewed as a fiber bundle over  $\mathcal{B}$ . The tangent space at  $\kappa \in Q$  consists of those sections whose projection onto Y coincides with  $\kappa$ . In the physics context, an element of  $T_{\kappa}Q$  is interpreted as a fiber-wise variation of  $\kappa$ .



The local coordinate system X on  $\mathcal{B}$  induces a smooth local frame for  $T\mathcal{B}$ ,

$$\{\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} := \frac{\partial}{\partial X^{\alpha}} : \alpha = 1, \dots, d\}$$

defined by the paths

$$\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}|_{p} = [t \mapsto X^{-1}(X(p) + t e_{\alpha})], \qquad p \in \mathcal{B}$$

where  $\{e_{\alpha}\}$  is the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{d}$ . The action of this frame on a function  $f \in \mathscr{D}(\mathfrak{B})$  is

$$(\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}f)(p) = D_{X(p)}^{\alpha}(f \circ X^{-1})$$

Likewise, the local coordinate system  $y = (X, x) : Y \to \mathbb{R}^n$  induces a smooth local frame for *TY*,

$$\{\partial_i^{\Upsilon},\partial_{\alpha}^{\Upsilon}: \alpha=1,\ldots,d, i=1,\ldots,m\},\$$

defined by the paths

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\alpha}^{Y}|_{e} &= [t \mapsto y^{-1}(X(e) + t e_{\alpha}, x(e))] \\ \partial_{i}^{Y}|_{e} &= [t \mapsto y^{-1}(X(e), x(e) + t e_{i})], \qquad e \in Y. \end{aligned}$$

In terms of derivations, for  $f \in \mathscr{D}(Y)$  and  $e \in Y$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} &(\partial_{\alpha}^{Y}f)(e) = D_{y(e)}^{\alpha}(f \circ y^{-1}), \qquad \alpha = 1, \dots, d\\ &(\partial_{i}^{Y}f)(e) = D_{y(e)}^{i}(f \circ y^{-1}), \qquad i = 1, \dots, m. \end{aligned}$$

Since the coordinate systems are adapted,

$$d\pi \circ \partial_{\alpha}^{Y} = \pi^{*} \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}$$
 and  $d\pi \circ \partial_{i}^{Y} = 0.$  (3.2)

The vertical bundle *VY* is spanned locally by the frame field  $\partial_i^Y$ ; a local coordinate system for *VY* is

$$(X, x, \dot{x}) : v \in VY \longmapsto (X, x, \dot{x})(v) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m,$$

where

$$X^{\alpha}\left(v^{i}\,\partial_{i}^{Y}|_{e}\right) = X^{\alpha}(e), \qquad x^{j}\left(v^{i}\,\partial_{i}^{Y}|_{e}\right) = x^{j}(e) \quad \text{and} \quad \dot{x}^{j}\left(v^{i}\,\partial_{i}^{Y}|_{e}\right) = v^{j}.$$

A generalized velocity (or virtual displacement) field at  $\kappa$  has a local representation

$$v = v^i \kappa^* \partial_i^Y$$
,

where  $v^i \in C^1(\mathcal{B})$ .

We denote by  $dx_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\alpha}$  and  $dx_{Y}^{\alpha}$ ,  $dx_{Y}^{i}$  the co-frames dual to  $\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{B}}$ ,  $\partial_{\alpha}^{Y}$  and  $\partial_{i}^{Y}$ . We have

$$dx_Y^{\alpha} = \pi^{\sharp} dx_{\mathscr{B}}^{\alpha}, \tag{3.3}$$

because by (2.2) and (3.2)

$$\pi^{\sharp} dx^{\alpha}_{\mathscr{B}}(\partial^{Y}_{\beta}) = \pi^{*} dx^{\alpha}_{\mathscr{B}}(d\pi \circ \partial^{Y}_{\beta}) = \pi^{*} dx^{\alpha}_{\mathscr{B}}(\pi^{*} \partial^{\mathscr{B}}_{\beta}) = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}$$

and

$$\pi^{\sharp} dx_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\alpha}(\partial_i^Y) = \pi^* dx_{\mathfrak{B}}^{\alpha}(d\pi \circ \partial_i^Y) = 0.$$



Definition 4. The *bundle of forces* is the vector bundle

$$(T^* \mathbb{Q}, \tau^*_{\mathbb{G}}, \mathbb{Q})$$

dual to the vector bundle of velocities. A generalized force at  $\kappa$  is an element

$$f \in T^*_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q}.$$

That is, for every configuration  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ , the vector space  $T_{\kappa}^*\mathbb{Q}$  of forces at  $\kappa$  is the dual of the vector space  $T_{\kappa}\mathbb{Q}$  of velocities at  $\kappa$ . The action of a force f at  $\kappa$  on a velocity v at  $\kappa$  yields a real number, f(v), termed the *virtual power*, or *virtual work* that f expends on v.

By the isomorphism (3.1),

$$T^*_{\kappa} \mathfrak{Q} \simeq (C^1(\kappa^* VY))^*. \tag{3.4}$$

Generally, forces may be represented by a collection of measures (see Subsection 5.1) and therefore cannot be assigned values at points. The remaining part of this section considers forces that can be represented by more regular fields. **Definition 5.** The bundle of *body force densities* is

$$\mathbb{B} := \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^* \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B}).$$

It is a vector bundle over *Y*, with projection which we denote by  $\pi_{\mathbb{B}} : \mathbb{B} \to Y$ . For  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ ,

$$\kappa^* \mathbb{B} = \operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^* VY, \Lambda^d T^* \mathscr{B})$$

is the bundle of body force densities along  $\kappa$ ; it is a vector bundle over  $\mathcal{B}$ .

The bundle of *surface force densities* is

$$\mathbb{T} := \operatorname{Hom}(VY|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}, (\pi|_{\partial \mathcal{B}})^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \partial \mathcal{B}).$$

It is a vector bundle over  $Y|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}$ , with projection which we denote by  $\pi_{\mathbb{T}}$ . For  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ , and  $\kappa_{\partial \mathcal{B}} := \kappa|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}$ ,

$$\kappa_{\partial \mathcal{B}}^* \mathbb{T} = \operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^* VY|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}, \Lambda^{d-1}T^*\partial \mathcal{B})$$

is the bundle of surface force densities along  $\kappa_{\partial \mathcal{B}}$ ; it is a vector bundle over  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ .

With these definitions, we can define the notion of a continuous force:

**Definition 6.** A force f at  $\kappa$  is termed *continuous* if there exists a *body force density field* along  $\kappa$ ,

$$\mathbf{b} \in C^0(\kappa^* \mathbb{B}) \simeq C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^* VY, \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B})),$$

and a *surface force density field* along  $\kappa$ ,

$$\mathbf{t} \in C^{0}(\kappa_{\partial \mathcal{B}}^{*}\mathbb{T}) \simeq C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^{*}VY|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}, \Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\partial \mathcal{B})),$$

such that for every velocity v at  $\kappa$ , the virtual power that f expends on v is given by

$$f(v) = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{b} \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \mathbf{t} \circ v|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}.$$
 (3.5)

Note that on the left-hand side of (3.5), v is viewed as an element of  $T_{\kappa}\mathbb{Q}$ , whereas on the right-hand side, v is viewed as a velocity field at  $\kappa$ , i.e., an element of  $C^{1}(\kappa^{*}VY)$ .

**Remark 7** (Non-compact base manifolds). If the base manifold  $\mathscr{B}$  is not compact, the image of a section  $s \in C^1(Y)$  is never compact, hence, it is not possible to endow  $C^1(E)$  (or any other reasonable class of sections) with a Banach manifold structure (see discussion in the introduction of [PT01]). However, as shown in [Mic80] and [KM97] for smooth sections, the space  $C^{\infty}(Y)$  of  $C^{\infty}$ sections  $\mathscr{B} \to Y$  can be given a structure of a smooth manifold modeled on a locally convex topological vector space. The tangent space at a configuration  $\kappa \in C^{\infty}(Y)$  may be identified with the space  $C_c^{\infty}(\kappa^*VY)$  of differentiable sections with compact supports, equipped with the inductive limit topology

$$C_c^{\infty}(\kappa^*VY) = \lim_K C_K^{\infty}(\kappa^*VY)$$

where K runs through all compact sets in  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $C_K^{\infty}(\kappa^*VY)$  has the topology of uniform convergence of all derivatives [KM97, Theorem 42.1]. Thus, generalized velocities are represented by sections of  $\kappa^*VY$  having compact supports so that forces may be viewed as tensor valued currents or generalized sections (see [GS77, Seg16]). An analogous construction can be applied to  $C^1$ -sections.

## 4. Deformation Jets and Velocity Jets

4.1. The manifold of deformation jets. In this section, we consider what is termed in [Seg81] the local model—a notion of configuration that encodes also information about local deformations. In a first grade theory, this additional information is reflected by conceivable values of the first derivative of the configuration at the various points. These values of the derivatives need not be compatible with a particular configuration  $\kappa$ . For short, we refer to such fields as deformation jets (referred to in [Seg81], for the case of a trivial bundle, as local configurations after [TN65, pp. 51–52]). The natural geometric construct for encoding this information is the first jet bundle ( $J^1Y, \pi^1, \mathfrak{B}$ ).

**Definition 8.** The *manifold of deformation jets* which we denote by  $\mathscr{C}$ , is some open subset of  $C^0(J^1Y)$ —the space of  $C^0$ -sections  $\mathscr{B} \to J^1Y$  containing the image of  $j^1 : \mathbb{Q} \to C^0(J^1Y)$ . That is

$$j^1(\mathbb{Q}) \subset \mathscr{C} \subset C^0(J^1Y).$$

A deformation jet which is a jet extension  $j^1 \kappa \in \mathcal{C}$  of a configuration  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$  is termed *compatible* or *holonomic*.

The manifold structure of  $\mathscr{C}$  is analogous to the manifold structure of  $\mathbb{Q}$ . Denote the vertical bundle of  $J^1Y$  by

$$VJ^1Y = \ker T\pi^1 \subset TJ^1Y.$$



For  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$ , the modeling space for a chart in a neighborhood of  $\xi$  is the Banachable space  $C^0(\xi^*VJ^1Y)$  of sections  $\mathcal{B} \to VJ^1Y$  along  $\xi$ ; that is,  $\xi'$  in that neighborhood of  $\xi$  is represented by an element  $\eta \in C^0(\xi^*VJ^1Y)$  satisfying

$$\eta_p \in (\xi^* V J^1 Y)_p \simeq (V J^1 Y)_{\xi_p} \subset T_{\xi_p} J^1 Y.$$



A local coordinate system for  $J^1Y$  [Sau89, p. 96] is

$$z=(y,x')=(X,x,x'): j_p^1\kappa\in J^1Y\longmapsto z(j_p^1\kappa)\in \mathbb{R}^d\times\mathbb{R}^m\times\mathbb{R}^{d\times m},$$

.....

such that

$$y(j_p^1\kappa) = y(\kappa_p)$$
 and  $x'_{\alpha}^i(j_p^1\kappa) = \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}(x^i \circ \kappa)(p)$ 

4.2. The bundle of velocity jets. The analog of a generalized velocity for the case of the bundle of deformation jets is defined as follows:

**Definition 9.** The vector bundle *T*C tangent to the manifold of deformation jets C will be termed the *bundle of velocity jets*. In [Seg81] it is referred to as the bundle of local virtual displacements (again, in the context of a trivial bundle).

The construction of TE is analogous to the construction of the bundle of velocities TQ. In particular, for  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$ ,

$$T_{\xi} \mathscr{C} \simeq C^0(\xi^* V J^1 Y), \tag{4.1}$$

which is the space of sections  $\mathscr{B} \to V J^1 Y$  along  $\xi$ .

As a set,  $T\mathcal{C}$  consists of sections of  $VJ^1Y$  viewed as a fiber bundle over  $\mathcal{B}$ . The tangent space at  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$  consists of those sections whose projection onto  $J^1Y$  coincides with  $\xi$ . In the physics context, an element of  $T_{\xi}\mathcal{C}$  is interpreted as a fiber-wise variation of  $\xi$ .

For later use, we will need the following well-known isomorphism:

**Proposition 10.**  $VJ^1Y$  is isomorphic to  $J^1VY$ ,

$$(VJ^{1}Y, \pi^{1} \circ \tau_{I^{1}Y}|_{VI^{1}Y}, \mathfrak{B}) \simeq (J^{1}VY, (\pi \circ \tau_{Y}|_{VY})^{1}, \mathfrak{B})$$

We will denote the isomorphism by

$$K: VJ^1Y \longrightarrow J^1VY.$$



Proof. See [Pal68, Chapter 17] and [Sau89, Theorem 4.4.1].

**Lemma 11.** Let  $j^1 \kappa \in \mathcal{C}$  be a holonomic deformation jet. Then, the isomorphism K induces an isomorphism of vector bundles over  $\mathcal{B}$ ,

$$(j^1\kappa)^*K: (j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y \longrightarrow J^1(\kappa^*VY).$$

Proof. See Theorem 17.1 in [Pal68, p. 82].

A local coordinate system for  $VJ^1Y$  is

 $(z, \dot{x}, \dot{x}') = (X, x, x', \dot{x}, \dot{x}') : (j_p^1 s)^{\cdot} \in VJ^1Y \longmapsto (z, \dot{x}, \dot{x}')((j_p^1 s)^{\cdot}) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^{d \times m} \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^{d \times m}.$ This local system of coordinates is adapted in the sense that for  $[t \mapsto j_p^1 s(t)] \in VJ^1Y$ , where  $s(0) = \kappa$ ,

$$z([t \mapsto j_p^1 s(t)]) = z(j_p^1 \kappa).$$

For  $j_p^1 \kappa \in J^1 Y$ 

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\alpha}^{J^{1}Y}|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa} &= [t \mapsto z^{-1}(X(j_{p}^{1}\kappa) + t\,e_{\alpha}, x(j_{p}^{1}\kappa), x'(j_{p}^{1}\kappa))] \\ \partial_{i}^{J^{1}Y}|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa} &= [t \mapsto z^{-1}(X(j_{p}^{1}\kappa), x(j_{p}^{1}\kappa) + t\,e_{i}, x'(j_{p}^{1}\kappa))] \\ (\partial^{J^{1}Y})_{i}^{\alpha}|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa} &= [t \mapsto z^{-1}(X(j_{p}^{1}\kappa), x(j_{p}^{1}\kappa), x'(j_{p}^{1}\kappa) + t\,e_{i}^{\alpha})], \end{split}$$

we have

$$z\left(\partial_{\beta}^{J^{1}Y}|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa}\right) = z(j_{p}^{1}\kappa), \qquad z\left(\partial_{j}^{J^{1}Y}|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa}\right) = z(j_{p}^{1}\kappa), \qquad z\left((\partial^{J^{1}Y})_{j}^{\beta}|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa}\right) = z(j_{p}^{1}\kappa).$$

Moreover,

$$\dot{x}^i \left( \partial_{\beta}^{J^1 Y} |_{j_p^1 \kappa} \right) = 0, \qquad \dot{x}^i \left( \partial_{j}^{J^1 Y} |_{j_p^1 \kappa} \right) = \delta^i_j, \qquad \dot{x}^i \left( (\partial^{J^1 Y})^{\beta}_j |_{j_p^1 \kappa} \right) = 0,$$

and

$$\dot{x}'^{i}_{\alpha}\left(\partial_{\beta}^{J^{1}Y}|_{j^{1}_{p}\kappa}\right) = 0, \qquad \dot{x}'^{i}_{\alpha}\left(\partial_{j}^{J^{1}Y}|_{j^{1}_{p}\kappa}\right) = 0, \qquad \dot{x}'^{i}_{\alpha}\left((\partial^{J^{1}Y})^{\beta}_{j}|_{j^{1}_{p}\kappa}\right) = \delta^{i}_{j}\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}.$$

A local coordinate system for  $J^1VY$  is

 $(X, x, \dot{x}, x', \dot{x}') : j_p^1 \upsilon \in J^1 VY \longmapsto (X, x, \dot{x}, x', \dot{x}')(j_p^1 \upsilon) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^{d \times m} \times \mathbb{R}^{d \times m}.$ 

For a local section  $v = v^i \kappa^* \partial_i^Y$  of  $\kappa^* VY$ ,

$$X^{\alpha}(j_{p}^{1}v) = X^{\alpha}(v_{p}) \qquad x^{i}(j_{p}^{1}v) = x^{i}(v_{p}) \qquad \dot{x}^{i}(j_{p}^{1}v) = v^{i}(p)$$

$$x'^{l}_{\alpha}(j^{l}_{p}v) = x'^{l}_{\alpha}(j^{l}_{p}\kappa) \quad \text{and} \quad (\dot{x}')^{l}_{\alpha}(j^{l}_{p}v) = (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}}v^{l})(p).$$

The isomorphism  $VJ^1Y \simeq J^1VY$  is represented by:

$$K\left(v^{i}(p)\partial_{i}^{J^{1}Y}\big|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa} + (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}v^{i})(p)(\partial^{J^{1}Y})_{i}^{\alpha}\big|_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa}\right) = j_{p}^{1}(v^{i}\kappa^{*}\partial_{i}^{Y}),$$

In other words, The local representative  $\overline{K}$  of K is given by

 $\overline{K}(X, x, x', \dot{x}, \dot{x}') = (X, x, \dot{x}, x', \dot{x}').$ 

Note that

 $d\pi^{1,0} \circ \partial_{\alpha}^{J^{1}Y} = (\pi^{1,0})^{*} \partial_{\alpha}^{Y} \qquad d\pi^{1,0} \circ \partial_{i}^{J^{1}Y} = (\pi^{1,0})^{*} \partial_{i}^{Y} \quad \text{and} \quad d\pi^{1,0} \circ (\partial^{J^{1}Y})_{i}^{\alpha} = 0.$ (4.2) We denote by  $dx_{I^{1}Y}^{\alpha}$ ,  $dx_{I^{1}Y}^{i}$  and  $(dx_{J^{1}Y})_{\alpha}^{i}$  the corresponding co-frames:

$$dx_{J^{1}Y}^{\alpha} = (\pi^{1,0})^{\sharp} dx_{Y}^{\alpha} = (\pi^{1})^{\sharp} dx_{\mathscr{B}}^{\alpha} \quad \text{and} \quad dx_{J^{1}Y}^{i} = (\pi^{1,0})^{\sharp} dx_{Y}^{i}.$$
(4.3)



4.3. Compatibility and jet prolongation of velocity fields. Evidently, special attention should be given to configuration jets induced as jets of configurations. The analogous situation applies to generalized velocity fields. In this section, we consider compatible configuration jets and compatible velocity jets.

The jet prolongation mapping  $j^1 : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathcal{C}$  is an injection, where we omit the indication that  $j^1$  needs to be restricted first from  $C^1(Y)$  to  $\mathbb{Q}$ . Its differential is a vector bundle morphism (see diagram below)

$$dj^1: T\mathbb{Q} \longrightarrow (j^1)^* T\mathcal{E},$$

mapping velocities at  $\kappa$  into velocity jets at  $j^1\kappa$ ,

$$(dj^{1})_{\kappa}: T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \longrightarrow ((j^{1})^{*} T \mathscr{E})_{\kappa} = T_{j^{1} \kappa} \mathscr{E}.$$

$$T \mathbb{Q} \xrightarrow{dj^{1}} (j^{1})^{*} T \mathscr{E} \xrightarrow{\tau_{\mathscr{E}}^{*} j^{1}} T \mathscr{E}$$

$$\downarrow^{\tau_{\mathscr{Q}}} \xrightarrow{(j^{1})^{*} \tau_{\mathscr{E}}} \bigvee^{\tau_{\mathscr{E}}} \mathscr{E}$$

Since  $T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^1(\kappa^* VY)$  and  $T_{j^1\kappa} \mathscr{C} \simeq C^0((j^1\kappa)^* VJ^1Y)$ , the differential of  $j^1$  at  $\kappa$  can also be viewed as a linear map

$$(dj^1)_{\kappa}: C^1(\kappa^*VY) \longrightarrow C^0((j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y),$$

mapping velocity fields at  $\kappa$  into velocity jet fields at  $j^1\kappa$ .

**Proposition 12.** The differential of  $j^1$  can be factored into the action of  $j^1$  and a vector bundle morphism: for  $v \in T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^1(\kappa^* VY)$ ,

$$(dj^1)_{\kappa}(\upsilon) = (j^1\kappa)^* K^{-1} \circ j^1 \upsilon.$$

In other words,  $(dj^1)_{\kappa}$  is represented by

$$j^1: C^1(\kappa^*VY) \to C^0(J^1(\kappa^*VY)) \simeq C^0((j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y),$$

where the last isomorphism follows from Lemma 11.

*Proof.* For  $v \in T_{\kappa}$ , let  $s: I \to \mathbb{Q}$  be a path of configurations satisfying

$$s(0) = \kappa$$
 and  $\dot{s}(0) = v$ 

By the definition of the differential via its action on curves,

$$(dj^1)_{\kappa}(v) = [t \mapsto j^1 s(t)] \in T_{j^1 \kappa} \mathscr{E}.$$

We now view v as a section  $C^1(\kappa^*VY)$ , *i.e.*, as a map

$$p \mapsto [t \mapsto s_p(t)].$$

Then,

$$j^1 v = j^1[t \mapsto s(t)] \in C^0(J^1(\kappa^* VY)),$$

and

$$(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}K^{-1} \circ j^{1}v = [t \mapsto j^{1}s(t)] \in C^{0}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}VJ^{1}Y).$$

Since  $(dj^1)_{\kappa}(v)$  can be identified with  $j^1v$ , we will use the shorter notation  $j^1v$  rather than  $(dj^1)_{\kappa}(v)$  to denote the corresponding element of  $T_{j^1\kappa}$ , and treat

$$j^1: C^1(\kappa^*VY) \longrightarrow C^0(J^1(\kappa^*VY))$$

as a representative of  $(dj^1)_{\kappa}$  .

Using local coordinate frames, a velocity field 
$$v$$
 at  $\kappa$  may be represented locally in the form,

$$\upsilon = \upsilon^i \, \kappa^* \partial_i^Y,$$

where  $v^i$  are differentiable functions defined on the domain of a chart. Its jet prolongation is the velocity jet field at  $j^1\kappa$ , represented locally as

$$j^{1}v = v^{i} (j^{1}\kappa)^{*} \partial_{i}^{J^{1}Y} + (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}v^{i}) (j^{1}\kappa)^{*} (\partial^{J^{1}Y})_{i}^{\alpha}.$$
(4.4)

## 5. Stresses

This section introduces the stress object as a tensor valued measure that represents a force functional, non-uniquely. Particular attention is given to stresses measures that are continuous relative to volume measures on the manifold  $\mathcal{B}$ .

## 5.1. Variational stresses.

**Definition 13.** The bundle  $(T^*\mathcal{C}, \tau^*_{\mathcal{C}}, \mathcal{C})$  dual to the bundle of velocity jets  $T\mathcal{C}$  is termed the *bundle of variational stresses*. Given a deformation jet  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$ , an element  $\sigma \in T^*_{\mathcal{F}}\mathcal{C}$  is referred to as a *variational stress* at  $\xi$ .

For every deformation jet  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$ , the vector space  $T_{\xi}^*\mathcal{C}$  is the dual of the vector space of velocity jets at  $\xi$ ,  $T_{\xi}\mathcal{C}$ . By the isomorphism (4.1),

$$T_{\xi}^* \mathscr{C} \simeq (C^0(\xi^* V J^1 Y))^*.$$
 (5.1)

Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$  be given. The map

$$j^1: C^1(\kappa^*VY) \longrightarrow C^0((j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y)$$

is an embedding. It follows from the Hahn-Banach theorem that its dual,

$$(j^1)^* : (C^0((j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y))^* \longrightarrow (C^1(\kappa^*VY))^*$$

is surjective; to every force at  $\kappa$ ,  $f \in (C^1(\kappa^*VY))^*$ , there corresponds a (nonunique) variational stress at  $j^1\kappa$ ,  $\sigma \in (C^0((j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y))^*$ , such that

$$f = (j^1)^* \sigma. \tag{5.2}$$

That is, for every  $v \in T_{\kappa}$ <sup>Q</sup>,

$$f(v) = \sigma(j^1 v). \tag{5.3}$$

Equation (5.3) is a generalization of the *principle of virtual work* in continuum mechanics, and Equation (5.2) is the corresponding generalization of the *equi-librium equation*.

It should be noted that the (generalized) equilibrium equation is merely a representation theorem; it is not a law of physics. Note also that the well-known *static indeterminacy*—the non-uniqueness of the stress representing a given force—is reflected by the non-injectivity of  $(j^1)^*$ , which in turn, follows from the fact that  $j^1$  is not surjective.

Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ , hence  $j^1 \kappa \in \mathcal{C}$ . By the Riesz representation theorem, the space of continuous linear functionals on  $C^0$ -sections,

$$T^*_{i^1\kappa} \mathscr{C} \simeq (C^0((j^1\kappa)^* V J^1 Y))^*,$$

coincides with the space of Radon measures valued in the dual vector bundle  $((j^1\kappa)^*VJ^1Y)^*$ . Locally, a variational stress  $\sigma \in T^*_{j^1\kappa} \mathcal{E}$  is represented by a collection of Radon measures

$$\{\mu_i, \mu_i^{\alpha} : 1 \le i \le m, 1 \le \alpha \le d\}$$

so that in case v or  $\sigma$  are supported in the domain of a single chart,

$$\sigma(j^{1}v) = \int_{\mathscr{B}} v^{i} d\mu_{i} + \int_{\mathscr{B}} (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} v^{i}) d\mu_{i}^{\alpha}.$$
(5.4)

In the general case,  $\sigma(j^1 v)$  is evaluated using a partition of unity.

5.2. Continuous variational stresses. Equation (5.4) shows that variational stresses may be as singular as measures. In this section, we restrict our attention to continuous variational stresses, that is, variational stresses for which the measures  $\{\mu_i, \mu_i^{\alpha}\}$  are absolutely continuous with respect to some smooth volume form on  $\mathcal{B}$ .

## Definition 14. The bundle of *stress densities* is

$$\mathfrak{S} = \operatorname{Hom}(VJ^{1}Y, (\pi^{1})^{*}\Lambda^{d}T^{*}\mathfrak{B}).$$

It is a vector bundle over  $J^1Y$ , with projection which we denote by  $\pi_{\mathfrak{S}} : \mathfrak{S} \to J^1Y$ . For  $\xi \in \mathfrak{C}$ ,

$$\xi^* \mathfrak{S} = \operatorname{Hom}(\xi^* V J^1 Y, \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B}),$$

is the  $C^0$ -bundle of variational stress densities along  $\xi$ ; it is a vector bundle over  $\mathfrak{B}$ .

**Definition 15.** A variational stress  $\sigma \in T^*_{\xi} \mathscr{C}$  at  $\xi \in \mathscr{C}$  is termed *continuous* if there exists a *variational stress density field* at  $\xi$ ,

$$\mathbf{s} \in C^0(\xi^* \mathfrak{S}) \simeq C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(\xi^* V J^1 Y, \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B})),$$

such that for every velocity jet  $\eta$  at  $\xi$ , the virtual power that  $\sigma$  expends on  $\eta$  is given by

$$\sigma(\eta) = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{s} \circ \eta$$

Note that on the left-hand side,  $\eta$  is viewed as an element of  $T_{\xi}\mathcal{C}$ , whereas on the right-hand side,  $\eta$  is viewed as an element of  $C^0(\xi^*VJ^1Y)$ . (See below the local expressions for continuous variational stress densities.)

Let f be a force at  $\kappa$  and suppose that f is represented by a continuous variational stress at  $j^1\kappa$ ,  $\sigma \in T^*_{j^1\kappa}$  with variational stress density field  $\mathbf{s} \in C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(VJ^1Y,(\pi^1)^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathcal{B}))$ . Then, the virtual power expended by f is given by

$$f(\upsilon) = \sigma(j^{1}\upsilon) = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{s} \circ (j^{1}\upsilon).$$
(5.5)

5.3. **Traction stresses.** In classical formulations of continuum mechanics in a Euclidean space, the stress object plays two important roles: it determines the traction fields on sub-bodies via the Cauchy formula, and it acts on velocity jets to produce power. For continuous stresses on manifolds, two distinct objects play these two roles.

The variational stress, as defined above and as its name suggests, produces power when it acts on velocity jets. The object that determines the traction fields on the boundaries of sub-bodies will be referred to as *traction stress* (see [Seg02], where it is referred to as the Cauchy stress, and [Seg13], for the case of a trivial bundle). Definition 16. The bundle of *traction stress densities* is

$$\mathfrak{T} := \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B}).$$

It is a vector bundle over *Y*, with projection which we denote by  $\pi_{\mathfrak{T}} : \mathfrak{T} \to Y$ . For  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ ,

$$\kappa^*\mathfrak{T} = \operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^*VY, \Lambda^{d-1}T^*\mathfrak{B}),$$

is the bundle of traction stresses along  $\kappa$ ; it is a vector bundle over  $\mathcal{B}$ .

**Definition 17.** A *traction stress density field* at  $\kappa$  is a continuous section of the bundle of traction stress densities along  $\kappa$ ,

$$\tau \in C^0(\kappa^*\mathfrak{T}) = C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^*VY, \Lambda^{d-1}T^*\mathfrak{B})).$$

One would like to restrict traction stress density fields to co-dimension 1 submanifolds of  $\mathfrak{B}$ . In particular, to the boundary of  $\mathfrak{B}$ . Consider therefore, an embedded (d-1)-dimensional, oriented submanifold  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathfrak{B}$ . Denote by  $\iota_{\mathcal{V}} : \mathcal{V} \to \mathfrak{B}$  the inclusion. We denote by  $Y|_{\mathcal{V}}$  the restriction of the fiber bundle Y to  $\mathcal{V}$ . Formally,

$$Y|_{\mathcal{V}} := (\iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* Y$$
 and  $\pi|_{\mathcal{V}} := (\iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* \pi : Y|_{\mathcal{V}} \to \mathcal{V}$ .

Let  $(E, \pi_E, Y)$  be a vector bundle over Y (below E will represent the vector bundles  $\mathfrak{T}$  and VY). One can restrict E to  $\mathcal{V}$  by pulling back E over  $Y|_{\mathcal{V}}$  using the map  $\pi^* \iota_{\mathcal{V}}$  to obtain the bundle  $E|_{\mathcal{V}} := (\pi^* \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* E$  with the corresponding projection

$$\pi_E|_{\mathcal{V}} = (\pi^* \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* \pi_E : E|_{\mathcal{V}} \to Y|_{\mathcal{V}};$$

see the following diagram.



Equipped with this notation scheme,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{T}|_{\mathscr{V}} &= (\pi^* \iota_{\mathscr{V}})^* \mathfrak{T} \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}((\pi^* \iota_{\mathscr{V}})^* VY, (\pi^* \iota_{\mathscr{V}})^* \pi^* (\Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B})) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}(VY|_{\mathscr{V}}, (\pi^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B})|_{\mathscr{V}}). \end{aligned}$$
(5.6)

The bundle  $\mathfrak{T}|_{\mathcal{V}}$  is the bundle of traction stress densities restricted to  $\mathcal{V}$ , which nonetheless act on any (d-1)-tuple of vectors in  $T\mathcal{B}$ ; it is a vector bundle over  $Y|_{\mathcal{V}}$ .

The inclusion  $\iota_{\mathcal{V}}: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{B}$  induces a restriction

$$(d\iota_{\mathcal{V}})^*:\iota_{\mathcal{V}}^*\Lambda^{d-1}T^*\mathscr{B}\longrightarrow\Lambda^{d-1}T^*\mathcal{V}$$

of (d-1)-forms to vectors tangent to  $\mathcal{V}$ . It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} (\pi|_{\mathcal{V}})^* (d\iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* &: (\pi|_{\mathcal{V}})^* \iota_{\mathcal{V}}^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow (\pi|_{\mathcal{V}})^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathcal{V} \\ &: \pi^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B}|_{\mathcal{V}} \longrightarrow (\pi|_{\mathcal{V}})^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathcal{V}. \end{aligned}$$

Composition with the latter defines a vector bundle morphism over  $Y|_{\mathcal{V}}$ ,

$$\mathscr{C}_{\mathscr{V}}: \mathfrak{T}|_{\mathscr{V}} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(VY|_{\mathscr{V}}, (\pi|_{\mathscr{V}})^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathscr{V}).$$

The mapping  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{V}}$  is a generalization of the traditional Cauchy formula for continuum mechanics in Euclidean space,  $\tau \mapsto \tau(\mathbf{n})$ , where  $\mathbf{n}$  is the unit normal to the oriented submanifold. We will therefore refer to it as the *Cauchy mapping*.

Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Denote by

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}:\mathcal{V}\to Y|_{\mathcal{V}}$$

the restriction of  $\kappa$  to  $\mathcal{V}$ , namely,

$$\pi^*\iota_{\mathcal{V}}\circ\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}=\kappa\circ\iota_{\mathcal{V}}.$$

Note that for every vector bundle *E* over *Y*,

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}^* E|_{\mathcal{V}} = \kappa_{\mathcal{V}}^* (\pi^* \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* E = \iota_{\mathcal{V}}^* \kappa^* E = (\kappa^* E)|_{\mathcal{V}}.$$

Let  $\tau$  be a traction stress field at  $\kappa$ . Then,  $\iota_{\mathcal{V}}^* \tau$  is a section of  $(\kappa \circ \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* \mathfrak{T}$ , where

$$\begin{aligned} (\kappa \circ \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* \mathfrak{T} &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}((\kappa \circ \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^* VY, \iota_{\mathcal{V}}^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B}) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^* VY|_{\mathcal{V}}, \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B}|_{\mathcal{V}}), \end{aligned}$$

and we write  $\kappa^*VY|_{\mathcal{V}}$ , rather than  $(\kappa^*VY)|_{\mathcal{V}}$ , as no ambiguity should arise. Moreover, by (5.6),

$$\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}^*\mathfrak{T}|_{\mathcal{V}} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}^*VY|_{\mathcal{V}}, \Lambda^{d-1}T^*\mathfrak{B}|_{\mathcal{V}}) \simeq (\kappa \circ \iota_{\mathcal{V}})^*\mathfrak{T}.$$

We may therefore apply the pullback of the Cauchy mapping  $\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}^* \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{V}}$  on  $\iota_{\mathcal{V}}^* \tau$  to obtain a section

$$\mathbf{t} := (\kappa_{\mathcal{V}}^* \mathscr{C}_{\mathcal{V}})(\iota_{\mathcal{V}}^* \tau) \in C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^* VY|_{\mathcal{V}}, \Lambda^{d-1}T^* \mathcal{V})).$$

In particular, for the case  $\mathcal{V} = \partial \mathcal{B}$ , a traction stress density field  $\tau$  at  $\kappa$  induces via the Cauchy mapping a surface force density field at  $\kappa$ , that is, a vector bundle morphism

$$\mathbf{t} = (\kappa_{\partial \mathcal{B}}^* \mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathcal{B}})(\iota_{\partial \mathcal{B}}^* \tau) \in C^0(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^* VY|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}, \Lambda^{d-1}T^*\partial \mathcal{B})).$$

In order to simplify the notation, we define the morphism

$$\mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathscr{B},\kappa}: C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^{*}VY, \Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\mathscr{B})) \longrightarrow C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(\kappa^{*}VY|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}, \Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\partial \mathscr{B}))$$

by

$$\tau \longmapsto (\kappa^*_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathscr{B}})(\iota^*_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \tau)$$

so that

$$\mathbf{t} = \mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathscr{B},\kappa}(\tau).$$

Thus,  $\mathcal{C}_{\partial \mathcal{B},\kappa}$  is the Cauchy mapping along  $\kappa$ . These formal definitions simply imply that

$$\mathbf{t} \circ v|_{\partial \mathscr{B}} = \mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathscr{B},\kappa}(\tau) \circ v|_{\partial \mathscr{B}} = \iota^{\sharp}_{\partial \mathscr{B}}(\tau|_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \circ v|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}).$$
(5.7)

5.4. The traction stress induced by a variational stress density. The variational stress determines uniquely the traction stress, but the converse does not hold. This section introduces the construction of the traction stress from the variational stress for the fiber bundle setting.

The vector bundle  $V\pi^{1,0}$  is a sub-bundle of  $VJ^1Y$ . Its elements are represented by paths in  $J^1Y$  that are vertical over Y along the fibers of  $\pi^{1,0}$ . The fiber bundle  $(J^1Y, \pi^{1,0}, Y)$  is an affine bundle modeled on the vector bundle [Sau89, Theorem 4.1.11]

$$\pi^*T^*\mathfrak{B}\otimes_Y VY.$$

Consequently,

$$V\pi^{1,0} \simeq (\pi^1)^* T^* \mathscr{B} \otimes_{I^1 Y} (\pi^{1,0})^* VY \simeq \operatorname{Hom}((\pi^1)^* T \mathscr{B}, (\pi^{1,0})^* VY).$$

The inclusion  $\mathcal{F}: V\pi^{1,0} \hookrightarrow VJ^1Y$  induces a restriction

$$\mathcal{F}^*:\mathfrak{S}\longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(V\pi^{1,0},(\pi^1)^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B}),$$

defined by

$$\mathbf{s} \longmapsto \mathbf{s} \circ \mathcal{F}$$

In view of the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(V\pi^{1,0},(\pi^1)^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B}) \simeq (\pi^{1,0})^* \left(\pi^*T\mathfrak{B} \otimes_Y (VY)^* \otimes_Y \pi^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B}\right),$$

we define

$$\mathbb{C}: \operatorname{Hom}(V\pi^{1,0},(\pi^1)^*\Lambda^d T^*\mathfrak{B}) \longrightarrow (\pi^{1,0})^* \left( (VY)^* \otimes_Y \pi^*\Lambda^{d-1} T^*\mathfrak{B} \right) \simeq (\pi^{1,0})^*\mathfrak{T}$$

to be the contraction of the third and first factors in the product, namely,

$$\mathbb{C}(\upsilon \otimes \varphi \otimes \theta) = \varphi \otimes (\upsilon \,\lrcorner\, \theta).$$

Note that  $\mathbb{C}$  is a vector bundle morphism over  $J^1Y$ .

Next, define

$$P: \mathfrak{S} \longrightarrow (\pi^{1,0})^* \mathfrak{T},$$

a vector bundle morphism over  $J^1Y$ , by

$$P = \mathbb{C} \circ \mathcal{F}^*. \tag{5.8}$$

For  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ ,

$$P_{\kappa} := (j^{1}\kappa)^{*}P : (j^{1}\kappa)^{*} \mathfrak{S} \longrightarrow \kappa^{*} \mathfrak{T}$$

maps variational stress densities at  $j^1 \kappa$  to traction stress densities at  $\kappa$ . It follows that composition with  $P_{\kappa}$  maps variational stress density fields along  $j^1 \kappa$  to traction stress fields along  $\kappa$ .

An element of  $(j^1 \kappa)^* \mathfrak{S}$  at *p* is of the form

$$\mathbf{s}_p = \left(a_i dx_{J^1Y}^i|_{j_p^{-\kappa}} + a_i^{\alpha} (dx_{J^1Y})_{\alpha}^i|_{j_p^{-\kappa}}\right) \otimes dX_p.$$

......

Its restriction to  $(V\pi^{1,0})_{j^1_\rho\kappa}$ , it can be written as

$$a_i^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}|_p \otimes dx_Y^i|_{\kappa_p} \otimes dX_p.$$

Then,

$$P_{\kappa}(\mathbf{s}_{p}) = a_{i}^{\alpha} dx_{Y}^{i}|_{\kappa_{p}} \otimes (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX)_{p}$$

Thus, for a variational stress density at  $j^1 \kappa$  given locally by

$$\mathbf{s} = \left(\mathbf{s}_i (j^1 \kappa)^* dx_{J^1 Y}^i + \mathbf{s}_i^{\alpha} (j^1 \kappa)^* (dx_{J^1 Y})_{\alpha}^i\right) \otimes dX,$$

we have

$$P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s} = \mathbf{s}_{i}^{\alpha} \, \kappa^{*} dx_{V}^{i} \otimes (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX).$$

-

5.5. The exterior jet of a differentiable traction stress density. Recall the definition of a linear differential operator (see [Pal68, Chapter 3]).

**Definition 18.** Let  $(E, \pi_E, M)$  and  $(F, \pi_F, M)$  be vector bundles over the same base manifold M. A linear map  $D : C^k(E) \to C^{k-1}(F)$  is called a *first-order linear differential operator* from E to F if there exists a vector bundle morphism  $\tilde{D} \in L(J^1E, F)$ , such that

$$D(s) = \tilde{D} \circ j^1 s, \quad \forall s \in C^k(E).$$

Note that  $J^{1}E$  is a vector bundle over *M* only if *E* is a vector bundle. We will refer to  $\tilde{D}$  as the morphism associated with *D*.

For convenience, we recall the definitions of the following vector bundles:

body force densities	$\mathbb{B} = \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^* \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B}),$
surface force densities	$\mathbb{T}=\mathrm{Hom}(VY _{\partial\mathcal{B}},(\pi _{\partial\mathcal{B}})^*\Lambda^{d-1}T^*\partial\mathcal{B}),$
variational stress densities	$\mathfrak{S} = \operatorname{Hom}(VJ^1Y, (\pi^1)^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B}),$
traction stress densities	$\mathfrak{T} = \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathcal{B}).$

Each of these bundles can be pulled back with either  $\kappa$  or  $j^1\kappa$ ; sections of the pullback bundles are referred to as fields along  $\kappa$ .

**Definition 19.** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ . The *exterior jet* differential operator along  $\kappa$ 

$$\mathfrak{d}_{\kappa}: C^{1}(\kappa^{*}\mathfrak{T}) \longrightarrow C^{0}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\mathfrak{S}),$$

is defined as follows. Let  $\tau \in C^1(\kappa^*\mathfrak{T})$  be a traction stress density field along  $\kappa$ . Then, for all  $v \in C^1(\kappa^*VY)$ ,

$$(\mathfrak{d}_{\kappa}\tau)\circ j^{1}v=d(\tau\circ v).$$

**Proposition 20.**  $\boldsymbol{\delta}_{\kappa}$  *is a well-defined first-order linear differential operator.* 

*Proof.* In local coordinates, a traction stress density field along  $\kappa$  takes the form

$$\tau = \tau_i^{\alpha} \, \kappa^* dx_Y^i \otimes (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX),$$

where

$$dX = dx_{\mathfrak{B}}^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{\mathfrak{B}}^d.$$

A velocity at  $\kappa$  is given locally by

$$\upsilon = \upsilon^i \, \kappa^* \partial_i^Y,$$

hence,

$$\tau \circ \upsilon = \tau_i^\alpha \upsilon^i \, (\partial_\alpha^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX).$$

Taking the exterior derivative

$$d(\tau \circ \upsilon) = \left( (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \tau_i^{\alpha}) \upsilon^i + \tau_i^{\alpha} (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \upsilon^i) \right) \, dX.$$

By the local expression (4.4) for  $j^1v$ , it follows that

$$\mathbf{\mathfrak{d}}_{\kappa}\tau = \left( (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}\tau_{i}^{\alpha})(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}dx_{J^{1}Y}^{i} + \tau_{i}^{\alpha}(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}(dx_{J^{1}Y})_{\alpha}^{i} \right) \otimes dX$$

satisfies the defining property of  $\mathfrak{d}_{\kappa}\tau$  and depends linearly on  $\tau$  and its derivatives.

5.6. The divergence of differentiable variational stress densities and the equilibrium field equations. In this section we define the divergence differential operator for differentiable variational stress densities. The divergence operator enables one to tranform the weak form of the compatibility condition between continuous forces and stresses to a strong form of the equilibrium differential equation. For the rest of this section, we restrict ourselves to  $C^2$ -configurations and  $C^1$ -stress density fields.

**Proposition 21.** Let  $\kappa$  be a  $C^2$ -configuration. There exists a first-order linear differential operator mapping differentiable variational stress density fields along  $j^1\kappa$  into continuous body force density fields along  $\kappa$ ,

$$\operatorname{div}_{\kappa}: C^{1}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\mathfrak{S}) \longrightarrow C^{0}(\kappa^{*}\mathbb{B}),$$

satisfying for every variational stress density field  $\mathbf{s} \in C^1((j^1\kappa)^*\mathfrak{S})$  and virtual velocity  $v \in C^1(\kappa^*VY)$ ,

$$(\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s}) \circ \upsilon = \mathbf{\mathfrak{d}}_{\kappa}(P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ j^{1}\upsilon - \mathbf{s} \circ j^{1}\upsilon.$$
(5.9)

*Proof.* Using coordinates, a variational stress density field has a local representation in the form

$$\mathbf{s} = \left(\mathbf{s}_i \left(j^1 \kappa\right)^* dx_{j^1 Y}^i + \mathbf{s}_i^{\alpha} \left(j^1 \kappa\right)^* (dx_{j^1 Y})_{\alpha}^i\right) \otimes dX,$$

and a velocity has a local representation

$$\upsilon = \upsilon^i \, \kappa^* \partial_i^Y.$$

By (4.4),

$$\mathbf{s} \circ j^1 \boldsymbol{\upsilon} = \left( \mathbf{s}_i \boldsymbol{\upsilon}^i + \mathbf{s}_i^{\alpha} \left( \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathcal{B}} \boldsymbol{\upsilon}^i \right) \right) \, dX.$$

On the other hand,

$$P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s} = \mathbf{s}_{i}^{\alpha} \, \kappa^{*} dx_{Y}^{i} \otimes (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX),$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{d}}_{\kappa}(P_{\kappa}\circ\mathbf{s})\circ j^{1}\upsilon=\left(\left(\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}\mathbf{s}_{i}^{\alpha}\right)\upsilon^{i}+\mathbf{s}_{i}^{\alpha}\left(\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}\upsilon^{i}\right)\right)\,dX.$$

Subtracting, we obtain that

$$(\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s}) \circ \upsilon = \left( (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{s}_{i}^{\alpha}) \upsilon^{i} - \mathbf{s}_{i} \upsilon^{i} \right) dX.$$

That is,

$$\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s} = \left( \left( \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{s}_{i}^{\alpha} \right) - \mathbf{s}_{i} \right) \, \kappa^{*} dx_{Y}^{i} \otimes dX.$$

$$(5.10)$$

Consider now a continuous force  $f \in T^*_{\kappa}$ , given by

$$f(v) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{b} \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{t} \circ v|_{\partial \mathfrak{B}},$$

where  $\mathbf{b} \in C^0(\kappa^*\mathbb{B})$  and  $\mathbf{t} \in C^0(\kappa^*_{\partial \mathcal{B}}\mathbb{T})$ . Consider further a continuous stress  $\sigma$  represented by a variational stress density field  $\mathbf{s} \in C^1((j^1\kappa)^*\mathfrak{S})$ . Then, (5.5) takes the form

$$f(v) = \sigma(j^{1}v)$$

$$= \int_{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{s} \circ (j^{1}v)$$

$$= -\int_{\mathscr{B}} (\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s}) \circ v + \int_{\mathscr{B}} (\mathbf{b}_{\kappa}(P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s})) \circ (j^{1}v)$$

$$= -\int_{\mathscr{B}} (\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s}) \circ v + \int_{\mathscr{B}} d((P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v)$$

$$= -\int_{\mathscr{B}} (\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s}) \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathscr{B}} (P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v.$$

We conclude that f is represented by a variational stress density field **s** if for every  $v \in C^1(\kappa^*VY)$ 

$$\int_{\mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{b} \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{t} \circ v|_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} = - \int_{\mathfrak{B}} (\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s}) \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} (P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v.$$

It is observed that while the restriction of the various terms in the integrand  $(P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v$  to  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  and to vectors tangent to  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  is implied in integration theory, formally, in view of (5.7) we write the integrand as  $\mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathcal{B},\kappa}(P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v$ . Thus, since equality holds for every v, we obtain

$$\operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s} + \mathbf{b} = 0 \text{ on } \mathfrak{B} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{t} = \mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathfrak{B}, \kappa}(P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \text{ on } \partial \mathfrak{B}. \tag{5.11}$$

In coordinates, equation (5.11) transforms to an underdetermined set of d equations for the (dm + m) components of **s**.

Note that the above proposition holds if the vector bundle  $\kappa^*VY \to \mathfrak{B}$  is replaced by an arbitrary vector bundle  $\rho : W \to \mathfrak{B}$ , in which case div :  $L(J^1\rho, \Lambda^d T^*\mathfrak{B}) \longrightarrow L(W, \Lambda^d T^*\mathfrak{B})$ , which is compatible with [Seg02].

#### 6. The Continuum Mechanics Problem

It is well known that a given force distribution, does not determine a unique stress distribution. The source of this non-uniqueness may be traced back to Section 5.1. A unique stress field is determined when additional information in the form of a constitutive relation is provided. This couples the statics problem described above with the kinematics. The basic notions corresponding to the introduction of constitutive relations are discussed in this section.

Generally, the continuum mechanics problem takes the following form: the system under consideration is subject to external forces, usually dictated by a loading, which is an assignment of a force to every admissible configuration. A loading may consist of a body force component and a surface force component, and it may be singular or continuous. In analogy, a constitutive relation assigns stresses, regular or singular, to deformation jets, in particular, to jets of configurations. The continuum mechanics problem seeks a configuration  $\kappa$  such that the stress associated through the constitutive relation with  $j^1\kappa$  represents the force assigned by the loading to  $\kappa$ .

## 6.1. Loadings.

**Definition 22.** A *loading*, *F*, is a one-form on the configuration space assigning a force  $F_{\kappa} \in T_{\kappa}^* \mathbb{Q}$  to every configuration  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ .

Definition 6 of continuous forces extends to a definition of continuous loadings:

**Definition 23.** A loading *F* is termed *continuous* if there exists a *body loading density* 

$$\mathbf{B} \in C^0(\pi_{\mathbb{B}}),$$

and a *surface loading density* 

$$\mathbf{T}\in C^0(\pi_{\mathbb{T}}),$$

such that for every  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$  and  $v \in T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^{1}(\kappa^{*}VY)$ ,

$$F_{\kappa}(\upsilon) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} \kappa^* \mathbf{B} \circ \upsilon + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \kappa^*_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{T} \circ \upsilon|_{\partial \mathfrak{B}},$$

That is,  $F_{\kappa}$  is continuous with body force density field  $\kappa^* \mathbf{B} \in C^0(\kappa^* \mathbb{B})$  and surface force density field  $\kappa^*_{\partial \mathcal{B}} \mathbf{T} \in C^0(\kappa^*_{\partial \mathcal{B}} \mathbb{T})$ .

Note that by our conventions, we write  $C^0(\pi_{\mathbb{B}})$  rather than  $C^0(\mathbb{B})$ , because  $\mathbb{B}$  has multiple bundle structures, and the domain of those sections is not the base manifold,  $\mathcal{B}$ .

A body loading density has local representation,

$$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}_i \, dx_Y^l \otimes_Y \pi^* dX$$

where  $\mathbf{B}_i$  are real valued continuous functions defined locally on *Y*.

Assume that the chart X is adapted to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  so that  $(X^1, \ldots, X^{d-1})$  is a chart on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  and  $\partial_d^{\mathfrak{B}}$  is transversal to  $T\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . Then, one has a volume element  $\partial_d^{\mathfrak{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ , and locally,

$$\mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T}_i \, dx_Y^i \otimes_{Y|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}} \pi|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}^* (\partial_d^{\mathcal{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX)$$

where  $T_i$  are continuous functions defined locally on  $Y|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}$ . Let

$$v = v^i \kappa^* \partial_i^Y$$

be a local representation of a velocity at  $\kappa$ . As

$$\kappa^* \mathbf{B} = (\kappa^* \mathbf{B}_i) \, \kappa^* dx_Y^i \otimes_{\mathfrak{B}} dX \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa^*_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{T} = \kappa^*_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{T}_i \, \kappa^*_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} dx_Y^i \otimes_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} (\partial_d^{\mathfrak{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX).$$

we have the local expression,

$$(\kappa^* \mathbf{B}) \circ \upsilon = \upsilon^i (\kappa^* \mathbf{B}_i) \, dX, \qquad \kappa^*_{\partial \mathcal{B}} \mathbf{T} \circ (\upsilon_{\partial \mathcal{B}}) = \upsilon^i \kappa^*_{\partial \mathcal{B}} \mathbf{T}_i (\partial_d^{\mathcal{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX).$$

If the support of v may be covered by a single chart, we may write  $F_{\kappa}$  explicitly,

$$F_{\kappa}(v) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} v^{i} \left(\kappa^{*} \mathbf{B}_{i}\right) dX + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} v^{i} \left(\kappa^{*}_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{T}_{i}\right) (\partial_{d}^{\mathfrak{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX).$$



**Definition 24.** A loading *F* is termed *conservative* if

$$F = -dW$$
,

for some *loading potential*,

$$W \in C^1(\mathbb{Q}).$$

**Definition 25.** A conservative loading is *continuous* if there exists a *body loading potential density*, which is a C<sup>1</sup>-section

$$w_{\mathscr{B}}: Y \to \pi^* \Lambda^d T^* \mathscr{B}, \tag{6.1}$$

and a *boundary loading potential density*, which is a  $C^1$ -section

$$w_{\partial \mathcal{B}}: Y|_{\partial \mathcal{B}} \to (\pi|_{\partial \mathcal{B}})^* \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \partial \mathcal{B}, \tag{6.2}$$

such that the loading potential is given by

$$W(\kappa) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} \kappa^* w_{\mathfrak{B}} + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \kappa^*_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} w_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}$$

(see diagrams).

$$\Lambda^{d}T^{*}\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{(\tau_{\mathscr{B}}^{*})^{*}\kappa} \pi^{*}\Lambda^{d}T^{*}\mathscr{B} \qquad \Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\partial\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{(\tau_{\mathscr{B}}^{*})^{*}\kappa} (\iota_{\partial\mathscr{B}}^{*}\pi)^{*}\Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\partial\mathscr{B} \xrightarrow{(\tau_{\mathscr{B}}^{*})^{*}\kappa} (\iota_{\partial\mathscr{B}}^{*}\pi)^{*}\kappa (\iota_{\partial\mathscr{B}}^{*}\pi)^{*}\kappa$$

**Proposition 26.** Consider a continuous conservative loading F, the potential function of which is given by a body loading potential density  $w_{\mathfrak{B}}$  and boundary loading potential  $w_{\mathfrak{dB}}$ . Then, F is a continuous loading with corresponding loading densities

 $\mathbf{B} = -dw_{\mathfrak{B}}|_{VY}, \qquad \mathbf{T} = -dw_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}|_{VY|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}}.$ 

*Proof.* First, we should verify that this relation is well-defined type-wise. By the types (6.1) and (6.2) of  $w_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $w_{\partial \mathcal{B}}$ , it follows that

$$\begin{split} &dw_{\mathfrak{B}}\in C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(TY,w_{\mathfrak{B}}^{*}T(\pi^{*}\Lambda^{d}T^{*}\mathfrak{B}))),\\ &dw_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}\in C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(TY|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}},w_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}^{*}T((\pi|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})^{*}\Lambda^{d-1}T^{*}\partial\mathfrak{B}))). \end{split}$$

Restricting to the vertical bundle,

$$dw_{\mathscr{B}}|_{VY} \in C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(VY, w_{\mathscr{B}}^{*}V(\pi^{*}\Lambda^{d}\tau_{\mathscr{B}}^{*})))$$

 $dw_{\partial \mathscr{B}}|_{VY|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}} \in C^{0}(\operatorname{Hom}(VY|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}, w^{*}_{\partial \mathscr{B}}V((\pi|_{\partial \mathscr{B}})^{*}\Lambda^{d-1}\tau^{*}_{\partial \mathscr{B}}))).$ 

For every vector bundle  $(E, \pi_E, Y)$ , section  $w : Y \to E$  and  $a \in Y$ ,

$$(w^*V\pi_E)_a \simeq (V\pi_E)_{w(a)} \simeq E_a$$

In other words,  $w^*V\pi_E \simeq E$ , and so,

$$\operatorname{Hom}(VY, w_{\mathfrak{R}}^*V(\pi^*\Lambda^d\tau_{\mathfrak{R}}^*)) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(VY, \pi^*\Lambda^dT^*\mathfrak{B}),$$

 $\operatorname{Hom}(VY|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}, w^*_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}V((\pi|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})^*\Lambda^{d-1}\tau^*_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}))\simeq \operatorname{Hom}(VY|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}, (\pi|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})^*\Lambda^{d-1}T^*\partial\mathfrak{B}),$ 

and so,  $dw|_{VY}$  and  $dw_{\partial \mathcal{B}}|_{VY|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}}$  are indeed loading densities.

It remains to show that  $dw_{\mathscr{B}}|_{VY}$  and  $dw_{\partial\mathscr{B}}|_{VY|_{\partial\mathscr{B}}}$  are the loading densities corresponding to F = -dW. By definition, for  $v \in T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^{1}(\kappa^{*}VY)$ ,

$$dW_{\kappa}(v)=\left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{0}W\circ\gamma,$$

where  $\gamma : I \to \mathbb{Q}$  satisfies  $\gamma(0) = \kappa$  and  $\dot{\gamma}(0) = v$ . Substituting the representation of *W* in terms of a density,

$$dW_{\kappa}(\upsilon) = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{0} \left[ \int_{\mathscr{B}} (\gamma(t))^{*} w_{\mathscr{B}} + \int_{\partial \mathscr{B}} (\gamma(t)_{\partial \mathscr{B}})^{*} w_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \right],$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathscr{B}} \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{0} (\gamma(t))^{*} w_{\mathscr{B}} + \int_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{0} (\gamma(t)_{\partial \mathscr{B}})^{*} w_{\partial \mathscr{B}}$$

where the derivatives  $\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_0 (\gamma(t))^* w_{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_0 (\gamma(t)_{\partial \mathcal{B}})^* w_{\partial \mathcal{B}}$  are taken pointwise in  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ , respectively.

It follows from the chain rule and the definition of  $\gamma$  that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{0} \left( (\gamma(t))^* w_{\mathscr{B}})_p = (dw_{\mathscr{B}})_{\kappa_p} \circ (\dot{\gamma}(0))_p = (\kappa^* dw_{\mathscr{B}}|_{VY} \circ \upsilon)_p, \right.$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{0}\left((\gamma(t)_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})^{*}w_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})_{q}=(dw_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})_{\kappa_{q}}\circ(\dot{\gamma}(0))_{q}=\left((\kappa_{\partial\mathfrak{B}})^{*}dw_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}|_{VY|_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}}\circ\upsilon)_{q}\right).$$

Thus,

$$dW_{\kappa}(v) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} (\kappa^* dw_{\mathfrak{B}}|_{VY}) \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} ((\kappa_{\partial \mathfrak{B}})^* dw_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}|_{VY|_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}}) \circ v,$$

which completes the proof.

In a local coordinate frame, a loading potential density takes the form,

$$w_{\mathfrak{B}} = \omega_{\mathfrak{B}} \pi^* dX$$
 and  $w_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} = \omega_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \pi |_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}^* (\partial_d^{\mathfrak{B}} \sqcup dX).$ 

where  $\omega_{\mathfrak{B}}$  and  $\omega_{\partial\mathfrak{B}}$  are differentiable functions defined on the domains of the adapted charts on  $\mathfrak{B}$  and  $\partial\mathfrak{B}$ , respectively. Since the exterior derivatives of the volume elements vanish identically, the loading densities are given locally by

$$\mathbf{B} = -\partial_i \omega_{\mathscr{B}} \, dx_Y^i \otimes_Y \pi^* dX, \qquad \mathbf{T} = -\partial_i \omega_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \, dx_Y^i \otimes_{Y|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}} \pi|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}^* (\partial_d^{\mathscr{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX).$$

6.2. **Constitutive relations.** All the notions analyzed above—configurations, velocities, forces, deformation jets and stresses—pertain to a particular theory depending on the choice of configuration space. Within a particular theory, the properties of a system are prescribed using a constitutive relation, associating the state-of-stress with the kinematics.

It is noted that since our base space  $\mathcal{B}$  may be interpreted naturally as physical space-time, constitutive relations may involve time even in cases where it is not explicitly indicated.

**Definition 27.** A *constitutive relation* is a one-form  $\Psi : \mathcal{C} \to T^*\mathcal{C}$  on the manifold of deformation jets, assigning a stress  $\Psi_{\xi} \in T^*_{\xi}\mathcal{C}$  to every deformation jet  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$ .

Since  $j^1 : \mathbb{Q} \to \mathscr{C}$  is injective, a constitutive relation  $\Psi$  induces a loading

$$(j^1)^{\sharp}\Psi: \mathbb{Q} \longrightarrow T^*\mathbb{Q}.$$

By the definition of the pullback of forms, for  $v \in T_{\kappa}\mathbb{Q}$ ,

$$((j^{1})^{\sharp}\Psi)_{\kappa}(v) = ((j^{1})^{*}\Psi)_{\kappa}(j^{1}v) = \Psi_{i^{1}\kappa}(j^{1}v),$$

where in the first identity we identified, as before,  $dj^{1}(v)$  with  $j^{1}v$ .

We note that at this level of generality, and interpreting  $\mathcal{B}$  as space-time, this, seemingly elastic constitutive relation, is actually non-local, time dependent, and not necessarily causal.

The definition of continuous stresses extends readily to a definition of  $C^k$ -differentiable constitutive relations:

**Definition 28.** A constitutive relation  $\Psi : \mathcal{C} \to T^*\mathcal{C}$  is termed  $C^k$ -differentiable, k = 0, 1, ..., if there exists a *constitutive density*, a differentiable section,

$$\psi \in C^k(\pi_{\mathfrak{S}}),$$

such that for every deformation jet  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}$  and for every velocity jet  $\eta$  at  $\xi$ ,

$$\Psi_{\xi}(\eta) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} (\xi^* \psi) \circ \eta.$$

In the case of a differentiable constitutive relation, the induced loading is given by

$$((j^1)^{\sharp}\Psi)_{\kappa}(\upsilon) = \Psi_{j^1\kappa}(j^1\upsilon) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} ((j^1\kappa)^*\psi) \circ (j^1\upsilon), \quad \upsilon \in T_{\kappa}\mathbb{Q}.$$

We note that a differentiable constitutive relation is local and elastic in the sense that the stress at a point depends only on the deformation jet at that point. Again, we mention that for the case where  $\mathcal{B}$  is interpreted as space-time or body-time,  $\xi$  contains components that may reflect velocities. However, history dependence is excluded.

In coordinates, a constitutive density is represented locally as

$$\psi = \left(\psi_i \, dx_{J^1Y}^i + \psi_i^{\alpha} \, (dx_{J^1Y})_{\alpha}^i\right) \otimes_{J^1Y} (\pi^1)^* dX,$$

\_\_\_\_

where  $\psi_i, \psi_i^{\alpha}$  are  $C^k$  over the domain of a chart in  $J^1Y$ .

6.3. The continuum mechanics equations. Given a constitutive relation  $\Psi$  and a loading *F*, the continuum mechanics problem seeks a configuration for which the stress determined by the constitutive relation represents the loading for that configuration. Thus, the condition is expressed by

$$(j^1)^{\sharp} \Psi = F. \tag{6.3}$$

Explicitly, a configuration  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$  is a solution of (6.3) if for every virtual velocity v at  $\kappa$ ,

$$\Psi_{j^1\kappa}(j^1v) = F_{\kappa}(v)$$

6.4. The differential form of the continuum mechanics equations. Consider the continuum mechanics problem in the case of a  $C^k$ -constitutive density  $\psi$  and a continuous loading with densities **B** and **T**. A configuration  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$  which solves the continuum mechanics problem satisfies

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}} (j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi \circ j^{1}v = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \kappa^{*}\mathbf{B} \circ v + \int_{\partial \mathscr{B}} \kappa^{*}_{\partial \mathscr{B}}\mathbf{T} \circ (v|_{\partial \mathscr{B}}).$$
(6.4)

for every velocity field  $v \in T_{\kappa} \mathbb{Q} \simeq C^1(\kappa^* VY)$ .

In view of the definition of the divergence, restricting ourselves to  $C^2$ -configurations and  $C^1$  constitutive densities, we can rewrite these equations as follows:

$$\begin{split} &-\int_{\mathfrak{B}} \operatorname{div}_{\kappa}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi) \circ \upsilon + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}(P \circ \psi)) \circ \upsilon \\ &= \int_{\mathfrak{B}} \kappa^{*} \mathbf{B} \circ \upsilon + \int_{\partial \mathfrak{B}} \kappa_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}^{*} \mathbf{T} \circ (\upsilon|_{\partial \mathfrak{B}}). \end{split}$$

Since this hold for every virtual velocity v, we obtain a boundary-value problem

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{div}_{\kappa}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi) + \kappa^{*}\mathbf{B} &= 0, \quad \text{ in } \mathcal{B}, \\ \mathscr{C}_{\partial \mathcal{B},\kappa} \circ ((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}(P \circ \psi)) &= \kappa^{*}_{\partial \mathcal{B}}\mathbf{T}, \quad \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{B}. \end{aligned}$$

Let the loading densities and the constitutive density be given locally by

$$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}_i \, dx_Y^i \otimes_Y \pi^* dX, \qquad \mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T}_i \, dx_Y^i \otimes_{Y|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}} \pi|_{\partial \mathcal{B}}^* (\partial_d^{\mathcal{B}} \, \lrcorner \, dX),$$

and

$$\psi = \left(\psi_i \, dx_{J^1Y}^i + \psi_i^{\alpha} \, (dx_{J^1Y})_{\alpha}^i\right) \otimes_{J^1Y} (\pi^1)^* dX,$$

Then,

$$\kappa^* \mathbf{B} = (\kappa^* \mathbf{B}_i) \,\kappa^* dx_Y^i \otimes_X dX, \qquad \kappa^*_{\partial \mathcal{B}} \mathbf{T} = (\kappa|_{\partial \mathcal{B}})^* \mathbf{T}_i \,(\kappa|_{\partial \mathcal{B}})^* dx_Y^i \otimes_{\partial \mathcal{B}} (\partial_d^{\mathcal{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX)$$

and

$$(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi = \left( ((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i})(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}dx_{J^{1}Y}^{i} + ((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i}^{\alpha})(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}(dx_{J^{1}Y})_{\alpha}^{i} \right) \otimes_{J^{1}Y} dX.$$

If follows from the local expressions derived in Sections 5.4 and 5.6 that

$$(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}(P \circ \psi) = ((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i}^{\alpha})\kappa^{*}dx_{Y}^{i} \otimes (\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX),$$

and

$$\operatorname{div}_{\kappa}(j^{1}\kappa\psi) = \left((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i} - \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i}^{\alpha})\right) \kappa^{*}dx_{Y}^{i} \otimes dX,$$

so that the field equation is

$$(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i} - \partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}}((j^{1}\kappa)^{*}\psi_{i}^{\alpha}) + (\kappa^{*}\mathbf{B}_{i}) = 0$$

Since

$$\iota_{\partial\mathscr{B}}^{\sharp}(\partial_{\alpha}^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } \alpha \neq d, \\ \partial_{d}^{\mathscr{B}} \,\lrcorner\, dX, & \text{for } \alpha = d, \end{cases}$$
(6.5)

the boundary conditions are

$$(j^1\kappa)^*\psi_i^d = (\kappa|_{\partial\mathcal{B}})^*\mathbf{T}_i$$

## 6.5. Conservative constitutive relations.

**Definition 29.** A constitutive relation is referred to as *conservative* if there exists an energy function

$$U \in C^1(\mathscr{C})$$

such that the constitutive relation is given by

$$\Psi = dU.$$

Consider a conservative system with energy function U, subject to a conservative loading F = -dW. Then, the equilibrium equations are

$$(j^{1})^{\sharp} \Psi - F = (j^{1})^{*} \Psi \circ dj^{1} - F$$
$$= (j^{1})^{*} dU \circ dj^{1} + dW$$
$$= d(U \circ j^{1} + W) = 0,$$

where we used the commutativity of external derivatives and pullbacks. Thus, the solution is a critical point of the *total energy*,

$$U \circ j^1 + W. \tag{6.6}$$

**Definition 30.** A conservative constitutive relation is said to be *differentiable* if there exists a *Lagrangian density form*, a  $C^2$ -section

$$\mathscr{L}: J^1 Y \to (\pi^1)^* \Lambda^d T^* \mathscr{B},$$

such that the energy function is of the form

$$U(\xi) = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \xi^* \mathscr{L}.$$

$$\Lambda^d T^* \mathscr{B} \longrightarrow (\pi^1)^* \Lambda^d T^* \mathscr{B}$$

$$\xi^* \mathscr{L} \bigvee_{\mathsf{S}} \xrightarrow{\tau_{\mathscr{B}}^*} \bigvee_{\mathsf{S}} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{S}} J^1 Y \xrightarrow{\mathsf{S}} J^1 Y$$

Evidently, differentiable conservative constitutive relations generalize hyperelastic constitutive relations to the setting considered in this paper.

**Proposition 31.** Consider a differentiable constitutive relation with a Lagrangian density  $\mathcal{L}$ . The resulting constitutive relation is  $C^1$  with a constitutive density

$$\psi = d\mathcal{L}|_{VJ^1Y}.\tag{6.7}$$

*Equation* (6.7) *is a generalization of the classical relation between the stress and the derivative of the elastic energy density.* 

*Proof.* By definition, for  $\eta \in T_{j^1\kappa} \mathscr{C} \simeq C^0((j^1\kappa)^* V J^1 Y)$ ,

$$dU_{j^1\kappa}(\eta) = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_0 U(\gamma(t)),$$

where  $\gamma : I \to \mathcal{C}$  satisfies  $\gamma(0) = j^1 \kappa$  and  $\dot{\gamma}(0) = \eta$ . Substituting the representation of *U* in terms of a density,

$$dU_{j^{1}\kappa}(\eta) = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{0} \int_{\mathscr{B}} (\gamma(t))^{*} \mathscr{L} = \int_{\mathscr{B}} \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{0} (\gamma(t))^{*} \mathscr{L},$$

where the derivative  $\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_0 (\gamma(t))^* \mathscr{L}$  is taken pointwise at every  $p \in \mathscr{B}$ . It follows from the chain rule and the definitions of  $\gamma$  and  $\eta$  that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{0}(\gamma(t))^{*}\mathcal{L})_{p}=d\mathcal{L}_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa}\circ(\dot{\gamma}(0))_{p}=(d\mathcal{L}|_{VJ^{1}Y})_{j_{p}^{1}\kappa}\circ\eta_{p},$$

i.e.,

$$dU_{j^{1}\kappa}(\eta) = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} ((j^{1}\kappa)^{*} d\mathcal{L}|_{VJ^{1}Y}) \circ \eta,$$

which completes the proof.

33

Using a coordinate frame, a Lagrangian density is of the form

$$\mathcal{L} = L \ (\pi^1)^* dX.$$

where  $L \in C^{\infty}(J^1Y)$ . Then,

$$\psi = \left( (\partial_i^{J^1Y} L) \, dx_{J^1Y}^i + ((\partial^{J^1Y})_i^{\alpha} L) \, (dx_{J^1Y})_{\alpha}^i \right) \otimes_{J^1Y} (\pi^1)^* dX,$$

It follows that

$$\psi_i = \partial_i^{J^1 Y} L$$
 and  $\psi_i^{\alpha} = (\partial^{J^1 Y})_i^{\alpha} L.$ 

- 🛦 🛦 📥 -

## 7. Some Special Cases

We present here a number of examples where the general settings assume particularly useful forms.

7.1. Vector bundles. Consider the case where  $(Y, \pi, \mathcal{B})$  is a vector bundle. By the natural isomorphism  $T_w \mathbf{W} \simeq \mathbf{W}$  for any vector space  $\mathbf{W}$ , it follows that

$$(VY)_y \simeq T_y(Y_{\pi(y)}) \simeq Y_{\pi(y)}, \quad \text{for all} \quad y \in Y.$$
 (7.1)

It follows that for  $p \in \mathfrak{B}$ ,

$$(\kappa^* VY)_p \simeq (VY)_{\kappa(p)} \simeq Y_{\pi(\kappa(p))} = Y_p,$$

i.e.,

$$\kappa^* V \pi \simeq Y \tag{7.2}$$

independently of  $\kappa$ . As such, this theory may be referred to as linear.

Next, since  $(Y, \pi, \mathfrak{B})$  is a vector bundle, so is  $(J^1Y, \pi^1, \mathfrak{B})$ . Thus, in analogy, for any section  $\xi : \mathfrak{B} \to J^1Y$ ,

$$\xi^* V J^1 Y \simeq J^1 Y. \tag{7.3}$$

7.2. Affine bundles. Consider the case where  $(Y, \pi, \mathfrak{B})$  is an affine bundle modeled on the vector bundle  $(E, \rho, \mathfrak{B})$  (see [Sau89, p. 48]). It is implied that for every  $y \in Y$ ,

$$(VY)_y \simeq T_y(Y_{\pi(y)}) \simeq E_{\pi(y)}.$$
(7.4)

Hence,

$$\kappa^* VY \simeq E \tag{7.5}$$

independently of  $\kappa$ . Likewise, by Lemma 11,

$$(j^1 \kappa)^* V J^1 Y \simeq J^1(\kappa^* V Y) \simeq J^1 E, \tag{7.6}$$

independently of  $\kappa$ .

7.3. The bundle of frames. As mentioned in the introduction, the bundle of frames plays an important role in the geometric theory of continuous distribution of dislocations. Consider the bundle of frames  $(F\mathcal{B}, \pi, \mathcal{B})$  whose fiber at  $p \in \mathcal{B}$  is  $GL(\mathbb{R}^d, T_p\mathcal{B})$ , the space of invertible mappings  $\mathbb{R}^d \to T_p\mathcal{B}$  viewed as bases (frames) in  $T_p\mathcal{B}$ . Since  $GL(\mathbb{R}^d, T_p\mathcal{B})$  is an open subset of the vector space of linear mappings  $Hom(\mathbb{R}^d, T_p\mathcal{B})$ ,  $F\mathcal{B}$  is a sub-bundle of the vector bundle  $Hom(\mathcal{B} \times \mathbb{R}^d, T\mathcal{B})$ . We may conclude that for any  $y \in F\mathcal{B}$ ,

$$(VY)_{y} \simeq T_{y}(GL(\mathbb{R}^{d}, T_{\pi(y)}\mathfrak{B})) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, T_{\pi(y)}\mathfrak{B})$$

and for any frame field  $\kappa : \mathfrak{B} \to F\mathfrak{B}$ ,

$$\kappa^* VY \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\mathfrak{B} \times \mathbb{R}^d, T\mathfrak{B}). \tag{7.7}$$

Again, we may further conclude that

$$(j^{1}\kappa)^{*}VJ^{1}Y \simeq J^{1}(\kappa^{*}VY) \simeq J^{1}(\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, T_{\pi(y)}\mathcal{B})).$$
(7.8)

7.4. Form-conjugate forces and stresses. Consider the case where  $Y = \Lambda^p T^* \mathfrak{B}$ , where  $1 \le p \le d$ . This is a special case of 7.1 above. It follows that for any  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\kappa^* VY \simeq \Lambda^p T^* \mathfrak{B}$  and  $(j^1 \kappa)^* VJ^1 Y \simeq J^1 (\Lambda^p T^* \mathfrak{B})$ . Differentiable variational stress densities fields along  $j^1 \kappa$  are, therefore, sections of Hom $(J^1 (\Lambda^p T^* \mathfrak{B}), \Lambda^d T^* \mathfrak{B})$  and continuous traction stress density fields are sections of Hom $(\Lambda^p T^* \mathfrak{B}, \Lambda^{d-1} T^* \mathfrak{B})$ .

A particularly simple case follows when the traction stress density field  $\tau = P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}$  is given in terms of a (d - p - 1)-differential form g by

$$\tau \circ \upsilon = g \wedge \upsilon \tag{7.9}$$

for any *p*-differential form v on  $\mathcal{B}$ . It follows that

$$d(\tau \circ \upsilon) = d(g \wedge \upsilon),$$
  
=  $dg \wedge \upsilon + (-1)^{d-p-1}g \wedge d\upsilon.$ 

Set,

$$\mathbf{\mathfrak{f}} = d\upsilon, \qquad \mathbf{\mathfrak{F}} = dg. \tag{7.10}$$

It follows that,

$$d\mathbf{\tilde{f}} = 0, \qquad d\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}} = 0. \tag{7.11}$$

The representation of the force

$$\int_{\mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{s} \circ j^{1} v = \int_{\mathfrak{B}} d((P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v) - \int_{\mathfrak{B}} \operatorname{div}_{\kappa} \mathbf{s} \circ v,$$
$$= \int_{\mathfrak{B}} d((P_{\kappa} \circ \mathbf{s}) \circ v) + \int_{\mathfrak{B}} \mathbf{b} \circ v,$$

may be written now as

$$\int_{\mathscr{B}} \mathbf{s} \circ j^1 \upsilon = \int_{\mathscr{B}} (\mathfrak{F} \wedge \upsilon + (-1)^{d-p-1} g \wedge \mathfrak{f} + \mathbf{b}).$$

Assume that d = 4, p = 1 and consider the special case where  $\mathbf{b} = 0$ . If we interpret v as the 1-form potential (vector potential) of electrodynamics, the

expression we obtained for the power, together with equations (7.10, 7.11) are the governing equations of electrodynamics. Here,  $\Im$  is interpreted as the 4current density,  $\mathfrak{f}$  is interpreted as the Faraday 2-form, and g is interpreted as the Maxwell 2-form. As no metric structure is used, the equations are in the framework of pre-metric electrodynamics (see [HIO06]). In case the Lorentz metric is used, one can apply the Hodge star operator and write  $g = *\mathfrak{f}$  and obtain the usual Maxwell equations in vacuum, as for example in [MTW73, Chapter 3].

In the general case, one obtains a generalization of electrodynamics, referred to as *p*-form electrodynamics, as in [HT86, HT88]. (For further details see [Seg16].) A different theory in which form-conjugate forces appear is the theory of dislocations. In the case of dislocations, however, the traction stress does not have a simple form as assumed above. In fact,  $d\mathbf{f} = 0$  implies that no dislocations are present (see [ES14, ES15]).

7.5. Trivial fiber bundles. Consider the case where the fiber bundle  $(Y, \pi.\mathscr{B})$  is trivial, that is

$$Y = \mathscr{B} \times M,$$

for some *m*-dimensional manifold *M*. A section representing a configuration in this case is the graph of a mapping  $\mathcal{B} \longrightarrow M$ . Thus, it is natural in the case of trivial bundles to identify the configuration with such a mapping

$$\kappa: \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow M.$$

It follows that the configuration space Q is an open subset of the manifold of mappings  $C^1(\mathcal{B}, M)$ .

Since  $TY \simeq T\mathscr{B} \times TM$ ,  $VY = \ker T\pi$  may be identified naturally with  $\mathscr{B} \times TM$ . It follows that a generalized velocity at  $\kappa$  may be represented by a mapping

 $v: \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow TM$ , such that,  $\tau_M \circ v = \kappa$ ,

or alternatively, with a section of the vector bundle

$$(\kappa^*TM,\kappa^*\tau_M,\mathscr{B}).$$

The jet bundle  $J^1Y$  can now be replaced by the jet space of mapping,  $J^1(\mathcal{B}, M)$ (see [Mic80, Chapter 1]). An element of  $J^1(\mathcal{B}, M)$  is determined by the tangent mapping  $T_p\kappa$  for some mapping  $\kappa$ ;  $\mathcal{C}$  may be identified with the space of continuous vector bundle morphisms  $T\mathcal{B} \to TM$  over  $C^1$ -mappings  $\mathcal{B} \to M$ .

For further details regarding the forms assumed by continuous forces and stresses, see [Seg13].

7.6. Continuum mechanics on manifolds. The previous example includes the case of continuum mechanics on manifolds. Here, the manifold M is interpreted as the physical space S. For continuum mechanics, it is customary to require that configurations satisfy the principle of material impenetrability which implies that  $\mathbb{Q}$  be the space of all embeddings  $\mathcal{B} \to S$ . Indeed, the subset of embeddings is open in the manifold of mappings  $C^1(\mathcal{B}, S)$  (see [Hir76, Mic80]). In the classical case, both  $\mathcal{B}$  and S are 3-dimensional and S is a Euclidean space.

7.7. Continua with microstructure. Continuum mechanics of materials with microstructure falls under the case where Y has the structure of a Cartesian product  $\mathfrak{B} \times M$ , however, the manifold M has the additional structure of a fiber bundle

 $(M, \rho, S).$ 

The fiber over the point  $z \in S$  is interpreted as possible micro-states that a material point located at z may assume. Terms such as "internal variables", "internal degrees of freedom", "order parameters", etc. are also used for the micro-states.

A configuration of a body with microstructure is a mapping

 $\kappa: \mathfrak{B} \longrightarrow M$ 

for which

$$\kappa_0 := \rho \circ \kappa : \mathfrak{B} \to S$$

is an embedding.

For bodies with microstructre, forces and stresses include components that are conjugate to the micro-velocities and their jets (see [Seg94]).

A number of examples of continua with microstructure are discussed in [Mer79, Cap89]. These include mixtures, liquid crystals, Superfluid helium-3, Cosserat continua, etc.

7.8. **Group action.** We consider the case where for some Lie group *G* there is a smooth left action

$$\lambda: G \times Y \longrightarrow Y$$

such that for all  $g \in G$ ,

$$\lambda_q: \{g\} \times Y \longrightarrow Y$$

is a fiber bundle morphism over the identity of  $\mathfrak{B}$ . Thus, for  $p \in \mathfrak{B}$ , the image of  $\lambda_p : G \times \{p\} \to Y$  is contained in  $Y_p$ .

The tangent mapping

$$T\lambda: TG \times TY \longrightarrow TY$$

may be decomposed into partial tangents, and in particular

$$T_1\lambda:TG\times Y\longrightarrow TY$$

may be restricted to the Lie algebra,  $T_eG$ , and we obtain

$$T_1\lambda_e: T_eG \times Y \longrightarrow TY.$$

It is observed that the image of  $T_1\lambda_e$  is a subset of the vertical sub-bundle. It follows that for any  $\gamma \in T_eG$ ,  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Q}$ , there is a generalized velocity

$$v_{\gamma}: \mathfrak{B} \to VY, \quad v_{\gamma}(p) = T_1 \lambda_e(\gamma, \kappa(p)).$$

It would be natural, therefore, to define an *equilibrated force* as an element  $f \in T^*_{\kappa}$  such that

$$f(v_{\gamma}) = 0$$
, for all  $\gamma \in T_e G$ 

(see also [Seg94]). Requiring that all forces on all subbodies be equilibrated restricts the class of stresses. For example, in the classical formulation of continuum mechanics in a Euclidean space, invariance under the Euclidean group implies that the components  $\mu_i$  of the variational stress vanish and the components  $\mu_i^{\alpha}$  satisfy the usual symmetry conditions for the first Piola-Kirchhoff stress.

*Acknowledgement:* RK was partially supported by the Israel Science Foundation (Grant No. 661/13), and by a grant from the Ministry of Science, Technology and Space, Israel and the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, the Russian Federation. RS was partially supported by the H. Greenhill Chair for Theoretical and Applied Mechanics and by the Pearlstone Center for Aeronautical Engineering Studies at Ben-Gurion University.

#### References

[BBS55]	B.A. Bilby, R. Bullough, and E. Smith. Continuous distributions of dislocations: A new application of the methods of non-Biemannian geometry. <i>Proceedings of</i>
	the Royal Society of London. A 231:263–273, 1955.
[Blo79]	F. Bloom. Modern Differential Geometric Techniques in the Theory of Continuous Dis- tributions of Dislocations, volume 733 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer,
	1979. E Ping L Świetwalti and II Eighen Connetwork Classical Eight North Holland
[Δ3Γδδ]	E. DINZ, J. Shiatycki, and H. Fischer. Geometry of Classical Fields. North-Holland,
[Can89]	G Capriz Continua with Microstructure Springer 1989
[dR85]	M de León and P.R. Rodrigues Generalized Classical Mechanics and Field Theory:
[uites]	A Geometrical Approach of Lagrangian and Hamiltonian Formalisms Involving Higher
	Order Derwatwes. North-Holland, 1985.
[EE07]	M. Elzanowski and M. Epstein. Material Inhomogeneities and their Evolution.
[EEMI BBOY]	A Echeverria-Enriquez MC Munoz-Lecanda and N Roman-Roy Geometry
[LLIWILI((90]	of Lagrangian first-order classical field theories. <i>Fortschritte der Physik</i> , 44:235–280, 1996
[ES14]	M. Epstein and R. Segev. Geometric aspects of singular dislocations. <i>Mathematics and Mechanics of Solids</i> , 19:335–347, 2014. DOI: 10.1177/1081286512465222.
[ES15]	M. Epstein and R. Segev. <i>Differential Geometry and Continuum Mechanics</i> , volume 137 of <i>Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics</i> , chapter 7: On the geometry and kinematics of smoothly distributed and singular defects, pages 203–234. Springer, 2015
[Fra12]	T. Frankel. <i>The Geometry of Physics</i> . Cambridge university press. 3 edition. 2012.
[GH97]	F. Gronwald and F.W. Hehl. Stress and hyperstress as fundamental concepts in
	continuum mechanics and in relativistic field theory. arXiv:gr-qc/9701054, 1997.
[GIMM03]	M.J. Gotay, J. Isenberg, J.E. Marsden, and R. Motgomery. Momentum maps and
[GM75]	M E Gurtin and I. C. Martine Gauchy's theorem in classical physics. Archive for
[0][/]/3]	rational mechanics and analysis, 60:305–324, 1975.
[GMS09]	G. Giachetta, L. Mangiarotti, and G. Sardansashvily. <i>Advanced Classical Field The-</i> <i>ory</i> . World Scientific, 2009.
[GS77]	V. Guillemin and S. Sternberg. <i>Geometric Asymptotics</i> . American Mathematical Society, 1977.

[GW67]	M. E. Gurtin and W. Williams. An axiomatic foundation for continuum thermo-
	dynamics. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 26(2):83–117, 1967.
[Heh76]	F.W. Hehl. On the energy tensor of spinning massive matter in classical field
	theory and general relativity. Reports on Mathematical Physics, 9:55–82, 1976.
[Her70]	R. Hermann. Vector Bundles in Mathematical Physics. Benjamin, 1970.
[HIO06]	F.W. Hehl, Y. Itin, and Y.N. Obukhov. Recent developments in premetric elec-
[]	trodynamics_arXiv:nhvsics/0610221v1 [nhvsics_class=nh]_October 2006
[Hir76]	M Hirsch Differential Tanalagy Springer 1076
[HM86]	EW Hahl and D. McCroa. Bianchi identities and the automatic conservation of
	anargy momentum and angular momentum in general relativistic field theories
	Energy-momentum and angular momentum in general-relativistic neid theories.
	E W Hahl LD McCross E W Mielks and V No'sman Matric office gauge
	T. W. Helli, J.D. McClea, E. W. Mileike, and T. Ive email. Methodatic gauge
	of dilation invariance. Division Deventer 258:1, 171, 1005
	E W 11-11 - 1 V N. 2000 Second and a second se
	F. W. Heni and Y. Ive eman. Spacetime as a continuum with microstructure and
	ind Dhusing Libits Vil of D. Lungshed, 95 Birdshug ranges 21, 52 West 11 Spingife
	ical Physics: Jublice Vol of D. Ivanenko's 85 Dirinaay., pages 51–52. World Scientific,
	1991.
[H180]	M. Henneaux and C. Teiteidoim. $p$ -form electrodynamics. Foundations of Physics,
	10(/):593-01/, 1980.
[H188]	M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim. Dynamics of chiral (self-dual) p-forms. <i>Physics</i>
	Letters B, 200:050–054, 1988.
[KM97]	A. Kriegl and P.W. Michor. The Convenient Setting of Global Analysis. American
	Mathematical Society, 1997.
[Kom68]	J. Komorowski. A modern version of the E. Noether's theorems in the calculus
[rr co]	of variations, 1. Studia Mathematica, 29:261–273, 1968.
[Kom69]	J. Komorowski. A modern version of the E. Noether's theorems in the calculus
	of variations, ii. Studia Mathematica, 32:181–190, 1969.
[Kon55]	K. Kondo. Geometry of Elastic Deformation and Incompatibility. Tokyo Gakujutsu
[**]	Benken Fukyu-Kai, IC, 1955.
[Kru71]	D. Krupka. Lagrange theory in fibered manifolds. <i>Reports on Mathematical Physics</i> ,
[rrm=o]	2:121–133, 1971.
[K179]	J. Kijowski and W.M. Tuczyjew. A Symplectic Framework for Field Theories. Num-
r1	ber 107 in Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer, 1979.
[Lan72]	S. Lang. Differential Manifolds. Addison-Wesley, 1972.
[Mer79]	N.D. Mermin. The topological theory of defects in ordered media. Reviews of
	Modern Physics, 51:591–646, 1979.
[Mic80]	P.W. Michor. Manifolds of Differentiable Mappings. Shiva, 1980.
[MTW73]	C.W. Misner, K.S. Thorne, and J.A. Wheeler. Gravitation. Freeman, 1973.
[Nol59]	W. Noll. The foundations of classical mechanics in the light of recent advances
	in continuum mechanics. In Leon Henkin, Patrick Suppes, and Alfred Tarski,
	editors, The Axiomatic Method, with Special Reference to Geometry and Physics, pages
	266–281. North-Holland, 1959. Proceedings of an international symposium held
	at the University of California, Berkeley, December 26, 1957-January 4, 1958.
[Nol67]	W. Noll. Materially uniform simple bodies with inhomogeneities. Archive for Ra-
	tional Mechanics and Analysis, 27:1–32, 1967.
[Pal68]	R. S. Palais. Foundations of Global Non-Linear Analysis. Benjamin, 1968.
[PT01]	P. Piccione and D.V. Tausk. On the Banach differential structure for sets of maps
	on non-compact domains. Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications,
	46(2):245–265, 2001.
[Ram01]	P. Ramond. Field Theory: A Modern Primer. Westview, 2001.

- [Sau89] D.J. Saunders. *The Geometry of Jet Bundles*, volume 142 of *London Mathematical Society: Lecture Notes Series*. Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [Seg81] R. Segev. *Differentiable manifolds and some basic notions of continuum mechanics*. PhD thesis, U. of Calgary, 1981.
- [Seg86] R. Segev. Forces and the existence of stresses in invariant continuum mechanics. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 27:163–170, 1986.
- [Seg94] R. Segev. A geometrical framework for the statics of materials with microstructure. *Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences*, 6:871–897, 1994.
- [Seg02] R. Segev. Metric-independent analysis of the stress-energy tensor. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 43:3220–3231, 2002.
- [Seg13] R. Segev. Notes on metric independent analysis of classical fields. *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, 36:497–566, 2013. DOI: 10.1002/mma.2610.
- [Seg16] R. Segev. Continuum mechanics, stresses, currents and electrodynamics. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A*, 374:20150174, 2016. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2015.0174.
- [Sil85] M. Silhavy. The existence of the flux vector and the divergence theorem for general Cauchy fluxes. *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 90:195–212, 1985.
- [Sil91] M. Silhavy. Cauchy's stress theorem and tensor fields with divergence in L<sup>p</sup>. *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 116:223–255, 1991.
- [Sil08] M. Silhavy. Cauchy's stress theorem for stresses represented by measures. *Continuum Mechanics and Thermodynamics*, 20:75–96, 2008.
- [Śniatycki70] J. Śniatycki. On the geometric structure of classical field theory in Lagrangian formulation. *Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 68:475–484, 1970.
- [TN65] C. A. Truesdell and W. Noll. *The nonlinear field theories of mechanics*. Springer, 1965.
- [Tra67] A. Trautman. Noether equations and conservation laws. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 6:248–261, 1967.
- [TT60] C.A. Truesdell and R. Toupin. *The Classical Field Theories*, volume III/1 of *Handbuch der Physik*. Springer, 1960.
- [Wan67] C.-C. Wang. On the geometric structures of simple bodies, a mathematical foundation for the theory of continuous distributions of dislocations. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 27:33–93, 1967.

\*Einstein Institute of Mathematics, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem Jerusalem, 9190401, Israel

 $^{\ast\ast}$  Department of Mechanical Engineering, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva 84105, Israel